
 

 
 
 
 

Delegated Decisions by Cabinet Member for Growth & 
Infrastructure 
 
Thursday, 25 November 2010 at 1.00 pm 
County Hall 
 

Items for Decision 
 
The items for decision under individual Cabinet Members’ delegated powers are listed 
overleaf, with indicative timings, and the related reports are attached.  Decisions taken 
will become effective at the end of the working day on 3 December 2010 unless called in 
by that date for review by the appropriate Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Copies of the reports are circulated (by e-mail) to all members of the County Council. 
 
These proceedings are open to the public 
 

 
 
 
 
Note:  Date of next meeting: 6 January 2011 
 
 
 
 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 
 
 

 
Peter G. Clark  
County Solicitor November 2010 
 
 
Contact Officer: 

 
 
Graham Warrington 
Tel: (01865) 815321; E-Mail: 
graham.warrington@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



Page 2  
 

 

 

Items for Decision 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  

2. Questions from County Councillors  
 Any county councillor may, by giving notice to the Proper Officer by 9 am on the 

working day before the meeting, ask a question on any matter in respect of the 
Cabinet Member’s delegated powers. 
 
The number of questions which may be asked by any councillor at any one 
meeting is limited to two (or one question with notice and a supplementary 
question at the meeting) and the time for questions will be limited to 30 minutes in 
total. As with questions at Council, any questions which remain unanswered at the 
end of this item will receive a written response. 
 
Questions submitted prior to the agenda being despatched are shown below and 
will be the subject of a response from the appropriate Cabinet Member or such 
other councillor or officer as is determined by the Cabinet Member, and shall not 
be the subject of further debate at this meeting. Questions received after the 
despatch of the agenda, but before the deadline, will be shown on the Schedule of 
Addenda circulated at the meeting, together with any written response which is 
available at that time.  

 

3. Petitions and Public Address  

4. Household Waste recycling Centres - Operating, Access and 
Waste Acceptance Policy (Pages 1 - 28) 

 Forward Plan Ref: 2010/100 
Contact: Amy Howard, Waste Contracts Officer Tel: (01865) 815349 
 
Report by Head of Sustainable Development (CMGI4). 
 
 
 
 
  

 

5. Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Development Framework: 
Annual Monitoring Report 2010 (Pages 29 - 78) 

 Forward Plan Ref: 2010/155 
Contact: Peter Day, Minerals & Waste Policy Team Leader Tel: (01865) 815544 
 
Report by Head of Sustainable Development (CMDGI5). 
  

 

 

 



Division(s): N/A 
 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR GROWTH & INFRASTRUCTURE 
25 NOVEMBER 2010 

 
HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRES – OPERATING, 

ACCESS AND WASTE ACCEPTANCE POLICY 
 

Report by Interim Head of Sustainable Development  
 

Introduction 
 
1. Oxfordshire currently has eight Household Waste Recycling Centres 

(HWRCs) in operation. The operation of these sites has been subcontracted 
to three operators, Viridor Waste Management Ltd, Waste Recycling Group 
Ltd and Weymouth and Sherbourne Recycling Ltd. 

 
2. Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) monitor and manage the contracts in place 

to ensure the HWRCs are operated in accordance with EU and national 
legislation, health and safety requirements and within the terms of the 
Environment Agency Permit; ensuring a safe and accessible site for all 
Oxfordshire’s householders. 

 
Purpose of policy implementation 

 
3. The HWRC – Operating, Access and Waste Acceptance Policy, is an 

amalgamation of the site rules and policies OCC currently have in operation at 
the HWRCs. The purpose of the document is to link, clarify and ensure 
consistency across sites in enforcement of site rules and policies. 

 
4. The document is one point of reference for employees of OCC, contractors 

and members of the public/site users.  
 
5. An apathetic attitude towards enforcement has meant an inconsistent 

approach to policies by site staff. This is being rectified through staff re-
training and the instigation of meet and greets on site. The Operating, Access 
and Waste Acceptance Policy will give the written basis of support to site staff 
when approaching or being approached by members of the public.  

 
6. HWRCs have in place a ‘meet and greet’ at or near the entrance to each site. 

The meet and greets have been instigated at all HWRCs since 1 September 
2010, and the primary role remains to assist customers and ensure site rules 
are applied universally and fairly to all site users. 

 
7. The Tyre and DIY ‘123 for Free’ policies have been in place for a number of 

years and subsequently have been refreshed to ensure they are inline with 
current legislation.  

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



CMDGI4 
 
 

Changes to DIY 1,2,3 for Free scheme 
 
8. The DIY ‘1,2,3 for Free’ scheme has been in place since 2000. The Council 

does not have a duty to provide a free disposal point for such waste under 
current legislation.   

 
9. The proposed DIY ‘1,2,3 for Free’ scheme allows householders to dispose of 

up to three items of DIY waste, or 3 sacks (80ltr) of DIY waste or plasterboard 
per calendar month for free. Householders may dispose of further items, or 
equivalent 80ltr sacks, of waste but at a charge of £1 per item up to a 
maximum of 10 (making a total of 13) in any one calendar month.  

 
10. The alterations to the scheme have clarified what an ‘item’ is, removed the 

none specific ‘other DIY wastes’ and added in material streams, namely 
plasterboard and carpet. The charging for tree stumps, tree trunks and fence 
panels has been removed. However, an upper limit of 6 fence panels per 
month has been added to prevent abuse by trade persons.   

 
11. Restrictions on accepting loose material have been added; only bagged 

material can be accepted. There is currently a ‘negotiation’ style approach to 
charging by the site staff for mixed/indefinable DIY waste. Some 
householders use a trailer and/or an open back vehicle, (due to ease of 
loading) and therefore will be reluctant to bag the waste. Unbagged waste in 
trailers will be charged at a set rate of £5 per load, equivalent to 8 ‘items’ or in 
this case 8 x 80 litre sacks. This prevents inaccurate charging of 
householders as the need to estimate the quantity by the site staff has been 
removed. 

 
12. Policy Statement 4 in the HWRC - Operating, Access and Waste Acceptance 

Policy (Appendix 1) contains full detail on the DIY ‘1,2,3’ for Free scheme. 
  

Changes to tyre recycling scheme 
 
13. Tyres are banned from entering the landfill containers at HWRCs. Under SI 

2002/1559 of the Landfill Directive, whole tyres were banned from Landfill in 
2003 and shredded tyres in 2006. Under the legislation tyres are not classified 
as household waste and therefore a charge can be made towards the cost of 
collection and disposal.  

 
14. The original scheme designated a two tier charging scheme for car or 

motorcycle tyres or an oversized tyre. Oversized tyres were defined as 
anything with a wheel hub rim of 18inch or above. Tyres from commercial 
enterprises and tractor/ lorry tyres are not accepted. 

 
15. The suggested change is that a single charge of £2.50 per tyre be 

implemented for all tyres up to 20 inch hub. This encompasses a fairer system 
for owners of 4x4s and simplifies cash handling for site staff, but still prevents 
the acceptance of large tyres such as those from lorries or tractors, (these 
tyres are deemed to be commercial waste). 

 

Page 2



CMDGI4 
 
 

16. The current limit of 5 tyres per visit and a maximum of 2 visits per year is to 
remain.  

 
Communications 

 
17. The Operations, Access and Waste Acceptance Policy will be placed on the 

OCC website and copies made available at the HWRCs.  
 
18. The DIY ‘1,2,3, for Free’ scheme will be re-launched with a communications 

programme run during the ‘grace period’ of the Van and Trailer Permit 
Scheme. Both schemes will be fully implemented by 31 January 2011. The 
current DIY scheme is over 10 years old and many householders are no 
longer aware of the system, as proven during the last customer satisfaction 
survey (June 2010) 68% or respondents were not aware of the scheme. 

 
Financial and Staff Implications 

 
19. It is not expected the changes to the DIY ‘123 for Free’ or Tyres charging will 

effect the revenue received from the HWRCs. Last years income was £16,984 
set against the disposal cost for inert containers £195,782 including transport. 
Revenue raised from the scheme will look to be reinvested into local or onsite 
reuse and recycling projects in addition to covering the costs of tyre disposal. 

 
20. Revenue at Redbridge HWRC has increased since the introduction of a meet 

and greet which occurred ahead of the other HWRC sites. This is due to the 
universal application of site rules rather than the previous ‘ad hoc’ approach 
by site staff. The primary role of the meet and greet is to assist members of 
the public. 

 
Equalities impact 

 
21. An equalities impact assessment has been carried out for the HWRCs and the 

policy and procedures reflect the outcomes. 
 

Sustainability issues 
 
22. The polices outlined in the HWRC - Operating, Access and Waste 

Acceptance Policy ensure that health and safety and legislative requirements 
are fulfilled whilst operating the HWRCs. The policy also looks to complement 
the waste hierarchy and maximise recycling at the HWRCs. 

 

Page 3



CMDGI4 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
23. The Cabinet for Growth & Infrastructure is RECOMMENDED to approve 

the annexed HWRC – Operating, Access and Waste Acceptance Policy 
and changes to DIY 1,2,3 for Free and Tyre policy as set out in the 
report. 

 
 
 
MARTIN TUGWELL 
Interim Head of Sustainable Development. 
 
Background papers:   Reports for policies on: 

DIY 1,2,3, for Free  
Tyre Scheme charging 
Van and Trailer Permit Scheme   
HSE recommendation and Environment Agency reports 
Customer Satisfaction Survey 2010 

 
Contact Officer:   Amy E Howard - Waste Contracts Officer  

Tel: 01865 815349 
Email: amye.howard@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
November 2010 
 

Page 4



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Oxfordshire County Council 
Waste Management Group 

 

 
 

Household Waste Recycling Centres - 
Operating, Access and Waste Acceptance Policy 

 

 

Waste Management Group 
Sustainable Development Service 
Directorate of Environment & Economy 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 
 
 
 
Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include other language, large print, 
Braille, computer disk or email. 

Page 5



 2

 
 
 
 
 
 
Oxfordshire County Council 
Waste Management Group 
 
 
Household Waste Recycling Centres -  
Operating, Access and Waste Acceptance Policy 
 
 
 
Contents 
 
i. Introduction .............................................................................................................. 3 
ii. Disclaimer ................................................................................................................. 3 
iii. Household Waste Recycling Centres - Users ..................................................... 3 
iv. Household Waste Recycling Centres – Access ................................................. 4 
v. Household Waste Recycling Centres - Types of Waste......................................... 5 
vi. Information ............................................................................................................ 6 
 
Policy Statement 1: Maximising Recycling .................................................................... 7 
Policy Statement 2: Permit Scheme ................................................................................ 7 
Policy Statement 3: Disposal of Waste by Charities and other eligible organisations 
at Household Waste Recycling Centres ......................................................................... 9 
Policy Statement 4: Acceptance of “Do-It-Yourself” Type Waste ............................... 10 
Policy Statement 5: Commercial Waste........................................................................ 13 
Policy Statement 6: Hazardous waste (Asbestos and Plasterboard) ......................... 14 
Policy Statement 7: Hazardous waste (chemicals, solvents etc)................................ 15 
Policy Statement 8: Paint .............................................................................................. 16 
Policy Statement 9: Tyres .............................................................................................. 16 
Policy Statement 10: Exchange of Goods at Sites ...................................................... 18 
Policy Statement 11: Site Rules Enforcement.............................................................. 18 
 
Annex 1: Location, addresses and contact details of Waste Recycling Centres ... 20 
Annex 2:  Materials Recyclable at Oxfordshire HWRCs .............................................. 22 
 

Page 6



 3

i. Introduction 

 
i. Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) provides eight Household Waste Recycling 

Centres (HWRCs) across the county which are managed on their behalf by private 
contractors (See Annex 1)   

 
ii. Under Section 51 of the Environmental Protection Act, Oxfordshire County Council 

has a legal duty to provide a free domestic waste disposal route through at least 
one HWRC.  

 
iii. This policy document has been developed for HWRCs with the following aims: 

• To control waste disposal costs to Council Tax payers by seeking to prevent 
the illegal use of HWRCs by traders and for non-household waste. 

• To maximise recycling and minimise landfill at HWRCs. 
• To protect the health and safety of site staff and householders at HWRCs. 
• To maximise operational efficiency at the sites – in order to minimise waiting 

times and facilitate safe and efficient working practices. 
• To protect the environment – by complying with all relevant legislation related 

to the disposal of waste. 

ii. Disclaimer 

i. The contents of the policy are correct at time of writing September 2010. However, 
Oxfordshire County Council reserve the right to amend the following policies as 
required, ensuring the continued access and safe running of the HWRCs for all. 
 

ii. When charges apply for the acceptance of certain types of waste (i.e. DIY and 
tyres) these charges are subject to periodic review by Oxfordshire County Council. 

iii. Household Waste Recycling Centres - Users  
 

i. The purpose of HWRCs is to provide a facility for householders to deposit certain 
materials that may not otherwise be taken by the routine collection services 
provided by Waste Collection Authorities (WCA).  

 
ii. HWRCs are provided for the use of householders resident in Oxfordshire for the 

disposal of their own household waste. 
 

iii. As an exception, OCC may allow the disposal of household waste by an individual 
depositing on behalf of a friend or neighbour (resident in Oxfordshire), who is 
unable to transport the waste themselves, and who the depositor is helping on a 
voluntary basis.  In this instance the depositor will be asked to complete a 
disclaimer form verifying that the waste is not trade waste. 

 
iv. HWRCs are not provided for the disposal of commercial waste (commonly known 

as trade waste).   
 
v. Commercial waste encompasses waste produced by a business or commercial 

activity even if this takes place within a home. For example, waste is not accepted 
if its collection and disposal form any part of a business type arrangement (such 
as, but not limited to, a ”man with a van” collection service and disposal of items by 
trades people carrying out work in a home) as this constitutes a commercial activity 
and hence commercial waste (see Policy Statement 6).    

Page 7



 4

 
vi. Landlords should note that waste produced from properties that are rented out and 

disposed of by, or on behalf of the landlord, is classed as commercial waste and as 
such must be disposed of at a charge at a commercial waste facility.   

 
vii. Please note if you are moving into a new home, the clearance of the property, 

garages and sheds is the responsibility of the previous owner. 
  

viii. Waste generated by a business operating from home is also viewed as commercial 
waste and as such individuals must arrange a commercial collection. 
 

ix. Under the Manual Handling Regulations 1992 (amended 2002), the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE) does not set specific limits on the weights employees can 
lift during their work; however, our contractors have adopted the HSE guidance 
that no more than 25kg should be lifted at a time as this reduces the risk of injury. If 
you will require assistance at the HWRC to unload, please ensure the item or sack 
of waste is within this limit.. 

 
x. Oxfordshire County Council may be able to accommodate visits from schools at 

certain HWRCs.  Please contact Waste Management Group on 0845 050 4550 or 
waste.management@oxfordshire.gov.uk to discuss this further. 

 
 

iv. Household Waste Recycling Centres – Access 
 

Permit Access Scheme at Household Waste Recycling Centres  
 

i. There is a restriction on vehicle types entering HWRCs for health and safety and 
operational reasons.  

 
ii. Additionally, there is a need to restrict the access of commercial type vehicles and 

trailers of a certain size to prevent the illegal use of the HWRC by trades persons 
or commercial enterprises.    
 

iii. The van and trailer permit scheme comes into operation from 1st November 2010. 
(see Policy Statement 2) 

 
iv. Householders who use a commercial type vehicle under 3.5 tonnes or a trailer with 

a bed length between 1.8 metres and 3 metres to dispose of their household 
waste, will need to apply for a free permit in order to enter a HWRC.  

 
v. Commercial vehicles are defined as those that are designed to carry goods, not 

people. They have no rear windows and/or no rear seats, and/or an open back, or 
a back, which is separate to the main cab area. 

 
vi. Vehicles over 3.5 tonnes gross/ laden weight and trailers with a bed length over 3 

metres are not permitted on any HWRC. 
 
vii. Twelve visits will be allocated annually. 
 
viii. Vans hired by a householder to deposit household waste, for a period of three days 

or less are permitted to enter the HWRC without a permit. The householder will be 
required to bring the hire purchase agreement with them and present it to site staff 
upon arrival. The restrictions on the vehicle sizes and weight still apply to gain 
entry to the site. For vehicle hire periods over 3 days, the vehicle will not be 
allowed to enter the HWRC’s. However, in circumstances where the origin of waste 

Page 8



 5

is proven to be genuine household waste, a bespoke permit can be issued, to allow 
temporary access. 

 
ix. There is a full copy of the schemes terms and conditions in Policy Statement 2 

shows a full copy of the scheme terms and conditions, including vehicle types, size 
restrictions, permitting requirements and administration of the scheme.   

 
 
 
 

General access conditions 
 
x. Pedestrian access cannot be permitted onto any of Oxfordshire’s HWRCs.  This is 

because there are currently no segregated walkways to enable pedestrians to 
safely enter and exit the sites.  This may be reviewed in future developments and 
site refurbishments as opportunities arise.  

 
xi. The use of tipping mechanisms are banned on site. Any vehicle that falls within the 

size restrictions (see Policy Statement 2), can use the site with a permit, but cannot 
operate any mechanical function whilst on site, whether this is tipping or a tail lift 
mechanism. 

 
xii. HWRCs are open every day from 08:00 to 17:00 hrs except for Christmas Day, 

Boxing Day, and New Year’s Day when they are closed.  There may also be early 
closing at the HWRC sites on Christmas Eve and New Years Eve by arrangement 
with site management, please see Oxfordshire County Council website for detail.  
HWRC sites will be open until 20:00 on Thursday evenings from 1 April to 30 
September.   

 
xiii. Householders arriving on site before the closing time will be permitted entry and 

allowed to deposit their waste.  Householders arriving after closing time will not be 
permitted entry.   

 
xiv. Depositing waste or recycling outside the gates or on the access road to an HWRC 

site is flytipping and as such may be subject to enforcement. 
 
 

v. Household Waste Recycling Centres - Types of Waste 
 

i. HWRCs are for the disposal of household waste only.  
 

ii. The only exception to this is a privately operated commercial Waste Recycling 
Centre adjacent to Redbridge HWRC. 

 
iii. HWRCs will only accept household waste of the type and amount associated with 

the usual production from a household.  
 
iv. Large quantities of certain materials are likely to be commercial waste and the 

Council seeks to exclude the deposit of commercial wastes from its HWRCs.  
 

v. Individuals attempting to deposit large quantities of materials or items suspected to 
be commercial waste, may be challenged by site management staff.  Site staff may 
ask the depositor to complete a trade waste disclaimer to confirm that the waste is 
from their own home. 

 

Page 9



 6

vi. If there are reasonable grounds to believe the depositor is operating in a business 
capacity or their waste is not household waste, that person may be refused access 
to deposit their waste, given advice and directed to leave the site.  

 
vii. Refusing to complete a Trade Waste Disclaimer Form fully, if requested, will also 

result in an individual being refused access to deposit waste. 
 

viii. OCC and its site management contractors may share information given on Trade 
Waste Disclaimer Forms, or information taken on site with Waste Collection 
Authorities to further ensure waste deposited at sites is household in origin.   

 
ix. A wide range of recyclable materials are collected at Oxfordshire HWRCs.  The 

range of materials accepted varies from site to site owing to health and safety, 
space, site permit and operational considerations.  See Annex 2 for a full list of 
accepted materials by site. If the item is not listed in Annex 2, or householders are 
in doubt, they should contact the Waste Management Team for advice on 0845 
050 4550. 

 
vi. Information 

 
i. The Council shall make available to site visitors a range of leaflets to provide 

relevant information on various aspects of Council policy and general recycling 
advice. Where appropriate, site staff will draw the visitors’ attention to the 
availability of such information. 

 
ii. Included with the leaflets shall be the “complaints and compliments” leaflet allowing 

the public to provide feedback to the Council. Site staff should provide them to 
visitors if requested or deemed appropriate.  

 
iii. Where a visitor has been refused access or an issue has been raised with any 

aspect of their attempt to deposit waste, the visitor should be provided with 
relevant leaflets to supplement the verbal explanation of the occurrence.   

 
iv. Further information about HWRCs and waste and recycling more generally is also 

available via the Waste Management pages at www.oxfordshire.gov.uk or by 
calling 0845 050 4550. 

 
vii. Equalities 

 
i. An Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been carried out for the HWRCs, 

and the policy and procedures reflect the outcomes. If you would like a copy of 
the EQIA, please contact Waste Management by calling 0845 050 4550 or 
emailing waste.management@oxfordshire.gov.uk. 
 

ii. Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include 
other language, large print, Braille, computer disk or email. 

 
  

Page 10



 7

Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 1:   Maximising Recycling 
 
 
i. Oxfordshire County Council and its contractors are committed to seeking to maximise 

opportunities for recycling at HWRCs through the following means: 
 
• Provision of separate containers for a wide range of different materials. 
• Clear signage showing which materials can be placed in each container to help 

residents to sort their waste and to ensure the correct material is placed in the 
correct container. 

• Site staff to offer advice about separating materials on site. 
Information about recycling is available online at www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/waste 

• Telephone advice about potential for recycling individual materials through the 
Waste Management Team on 0845 050 4550. 

 
ii. In order to maximise recycling rates at HWRCs, householders will be asked to sort all 

waste into the correct containers for recycling on site. Pre-sorting materials before 
visiting the site will make visits easier and quicker (see Annex 2 for recyclable 
materials).   

 
iii. In order to divert as much waste from landfill as possible, and to ensure waste is 

deposited appropriately in accordance with legislation, site staff may ask residents to 
open black bags,  or open black bags and sort waste after deposit. Only waste that is 
not able to be recycled elsewhere on site should be placed in the landfill container. 

 
 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 2: Permit Scheme     

i. An HWRC van and trailer permit allows Oxfordshire householders to access HWRCs 
in a commercial-type vehicle (up to 3.5tonnes gross/laden weight) or with a towed 
trailer with a bed length between 1.8m and 3.0m. 
  

ii. Commercial-type vehicles over 3.5 tonnes gross/ laden weight or trailers with a bed 
length over 3m are not allowed on site. 
  

iii. Permits will only be issued to householders who are Oxfordshire residents and intend 
to deposit their own household waste. 
  

iv. A permit provides permission to enter the HWRC only and is not a permit to deposit 
waste, which will be subject to Oxfordshire County Council’s Waste Acceptance Policy. 
Depending on the frequency of visits and/or type of waste being deposited, permit 
holders may be asked to complete a trade waste disclaimer form to confirm that the 
waste is from a household source and is not being carried for profit.  
 

v. HWRCs are strictly for household waste and recyclables only. Trade waste is not 
permitted. Trade Waste is defined as waste arising from any trade, business, industrial 
or commercial activities. Anyone who has received a payment for carrying waste or 
produces waste from their work cannot take this waste to an HWRC. Site staff have 
the right to turn away anyone suspected of bringing trade waste to site.  

Page 11



 8

vi. A household may hold only one permit at a time. It is not permissible to apply for a 
permit for multiple commercial-type vehicles or for both a commercial-type vehicle and 
a trailer, or for vehicles/ trailers to be registered to multiple addresses. 
  

vii. Trailers of any size can not be towed to site using a commercial-type vehicle.  
 

viii. Permit holders must make the permit available for staff to check on arrival at the 
HWRC.  
 

ix. Permits are valid for 12 individual visits per year.  
 

x. If you visit the HWRC network more than once in one day, each visit will be counted 
separately and your permit will be marked accordingly. 
  

xi. Access to HWRCs will be refused for commercial-type vehicles or trailers between 
1.8m and 3.0m in length without a permit.  
 

xii. The permit is only valid for the commercial-type vehicle or trailer described on your 
application. Permits are issued per vehicle/trailer, so any member of your household or 
driver you designate may visit the site with this vehicle/trailer using the permit.  
 

xiii. Permits are valid at all HWRCs in Oxfordshire.  
 

xiv. The HWRC van and trailer permit is valid for two years from the date of issue. If after 
one year you have not used all 12 visits, your permit will still be valid and you will not 
need to reapply until all 12 visits have been used.  
 

xv. Permits will only be issued to Oxfordshire households.  
 

xvi. If you change your address or vehicle please return your permit to Oxfordshire County 
Council, Waste Management Group, Speedwell House, Speedwell Street, Oxford, 
OX1 1NE for cancellation before reapplying with your new details. It is not acceptable 
to amend the permit yourself. Defacing or amending the permit will invalidate it.  
 

xvii. Should you lose your permit at any time, please call 08450 504550.  
 

xviii. Oxfordshire County Council reserves the right to cancel permits or amend the 
operation of the HWRC van and trailer permit scheme at any time. 
 

xix. Table 1 below states vehicles that will require a permit. 

Table 1: Permit requirements for vehicles 

Vehicles, that will not require a 
permit; 

Vehicles, that will require a permit; 
 
 

Cars 

 

vehicles - no larger or longer than a long wheel 
base transit van and weigh under 3.5 tonnes 
gross/ laden weight 

4X4’s (excluding pick up 4x4’s with an 
open back or separate cab) 

4x4 pick up trucks with an open back or 
separate cab, closed rear sides and no seating 
throughout. 

people carriers trailers with a bed length over 1.8 metres, but 
less than 3 metres 

trailers with a bed length up to 1.8m  mini buses with 11 seats or less 
specially adapted vehicles for disabled 
users – a dispensation letter will be 

horsebox trailers: two horse trailers, 1.8 to 3 
metre bed length. 

Page 12



 9

provided by OCC, when approached by 
a householder 
camper vans – only camper vans up to 
the size of a transit van will be allowed 
on site (3.5 tonnes gross weight). 

 

 

Vehicles, which are banned from using any HWRC site; 
• any vehicle larger or longer than a long wheel base transit van 
• vehicles over 3.5 tonnes when fully laden  
• trailer with a bed length of 3 metres or more 
• Luton box vans 
• vehicles which can only be emptied by using a mechanical tail lift. 
• mini buses over 11 seats or more 
• camper vans larger or longer than a long wheeled based transit van 

 
 
 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 3:   Disposal of Waste by Charities and other 
eligible organisations at Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
A number of organisations (including charities) may be eligible to dispose of waste at 
HWRCs under Schedule i and ii of the Controlled Waste Regulations.   
 
Please contact Oxfordshire County Council Waste Management Group on 08450 50 45 50 
or email: waste.management@oxfordshire.gov.uk to receive a copy of this policy and 
details of how to apply for a permit under this scheme. 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 10

  
Oxfordshire County Council 
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 4:  Acceptance of “Do-It-Yourself” Type Waste 
 
 
Under the Controlled Waste Regulations 1992, waste that is generated through building or 
renovation work (construction and demolition) is classified as industrial waste, not 
household waste, even if it is generated by the householder in their home. This means that 
the Council does not have a duty to provide a free disposal point for such waste. 
 
i. The Council therefore seeks to control the amount of this type of waste at sites for the 

following reasons: 
 

• To control costs to Council Tax payers – Construction & Demolition waste tends to 
be a particularly heavy material. As waste disposal and processing are paid for by 
weight there would be a significant burden passed on to all Council Tax payers.  

• To prevent illegal use of the sites by traders – waste from works of Construction 
and Demolition is not household waste and illegal use of sites is a significant 
problem which these limits are designed to control.  

• To reduce congestion and improve health & safety – large volumes of DIY waste 
delivered loose to site take much longer to unload than ordinary household and 
recyclable wastes, and reduce capacity on site to accept genuine household 
waste.  

 
ii. Examples of this type of waste include those listed in the table 2 below. 

 
iii. The Council is not, however, imposing an outright ban on all Construction & Demolition 

waste as it is recognised that households do have a legitimate need to dispose of 
limited quantities of these types of materials.  Since 2000, the Council has had a policy 
that allows small quantities of waste from small scale DIY activities carried out by 
householders themselves to be accepted through the “123 for Free Scheme”. This 
scheme has been refreshed and re-launched in autumn 2010. 
 
DIY – 123 for Free Scheme: Householders may dispose of up to three items of DIY 
type waste, or 3 sacks (80ltr) of DIY waste or plasterboard* per calendar month. This 
is the total amount allowed free of charge across all Oxfordshire HWRCs per calendar 
month.   
 
Householders may dispose of further items, or equivalent 80ltr sacks, of waste but at a 
charge of £1 per item up to a maximum of 10 (making a total of 13) in any one 
calendar month.   
 
Amounts of waste in excess of this will be considered to be commercial waste and 
should be disposed of by other means (see xi below).  
 
* Please note plasterboard is only accepted at Ardley, Dix Pit and Redbridge HWRCs 
(see Policy Statement 6) 

 
iv. DIY waste which is not a whole piece (i.e. rubble, soil, inert) waste must be bagged 

into sacks (please see point viii and Table 2), 1 sack of 80ltrs is equivalent 1 item. 
Sacks over 80ltrs will be counted as 2 items. If waste is not bagged it may lead to an 
inaccurate charge made to the householder (see viii below).  

Page 14



 11

v. Under the Manual Handling Regulations 1992 (amended 2002), the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) does not set specific limits on the weights employees can lift during 
their work; however our contractors have adopted the HSE guidance that no more than 
25kg should be lifted at a time as this reduces the risk of injury. If you will require 
assistance at the HWRC to unload, please ensure the item or sack of waste is within 
this limit. 

 
vi. Any complete item as listed in Table 2 will be counted as an item. 
 

vii. Examples of types and quantities of waste acceptable equating to “one item” under 
this scheme are listed below in Table 2. 

 
viii. OCC appreciate that some householders using a trailer or open backed vehicle, for 

reasons of ease of loading, would prefer not to bag certain types of DIY waste (i.e. 
rubble, tiles, inert, soil) If this ‘other’ DIY waste is presented un-bagged/ loose a flat 
rate of £5 per a load will be charged, irrespective of trailer/ open backed vehicle size. 
Waste presented in this manner is equivalent to 3 items for free, plus a further 5 x 80ltr 
sacks of DIY waste. Any additional ‘items’ carried by the householder or deposited 
within a month, will therefore be charged at £1 per item, a maximum of 5 more items 
may be deposited, up to the maximum of 13. Size and weight restricts for access with 
trailers and vehicles apply, a permit may be required (see Policy Statement 2).  

 
ix. Charges will only apply to the items stated in Table 2 or waste presented as described 

in point viii 
 
Table 2: Examples of items of DIY waste 
 

1 Bath 1 Water tank 
 

1 Complete window frame (no 
glass) 

1 Toilet Pan 1 Standard door 1 Roll of carpet or roof felt – up 
to 3 metres in width**  

1 Cistern 1 Kitchen unit (wall 
or floor) 

1 Wash basin or kitchen sink 
 

1 Kitchen Work top 
(max. length 3m) 
 

1 80ltr sack of 
plasterboard* 

1 80 ltr sack of DIY waste i.e. 
soil, rubble, tiles and inert.* 
 

10 Carpet tiles or 
sections of 
carpet and/or 
roof felt smaller 
than 1.5m x 1.5m 

1 Sheet of plaster 
board up to 2m x 
1m  

1 3m piece of guttering or 
drain pipe 

1 Shower door or 
shower tray 

1 Radiator   
 
 

* sacks over 80ltrs in capacity will be counted as two items. This may constitute other 
items not listed. 
** any carpet rolls over 3 metres in width will be charged as 2 items 

 
x. Garden DIY and soil 
 

A householder my deposit 6 panels of garden fencing, pallets or a garden shed free of 
charge per a month. These items fall outside of the DIY 1,2,3 for free charging 
scheme. 
 
Soil remains chargeable (see Table 2 and point viii) 

 

Page 15



 12

xi. Alternative Disposal Methods:   Householders with excess of this type of waste must 
make alternative arrangements for disposal. Options may include: 
• hiring a skip 
• employing a waste contractor  
• using a public weighbridge at a commercial waste disposal or recycling facility.   
• enquiring whether their local waste collection authority provide a suitable collection 

service 
 

xii. Householders are reminded of their ‘Duty of Care’ with regards to disposal of their 
waste. Householders should note that, if arranging alternative disposal, it is their 
responsibility to make any necessary arrangements and cover costs of disposal.   

 
 

Duty of Care (Householders) 
 
If you arrange for someone to take away any of your waste, you are 
required by Law to ensure that the person or company you are handing the 
waste to is legally authorised to take it, transport it and dispose of it safely.  
 
For this, they need to be registered as a licensed waste carrier.  You can 
check the list of registered waste carriers at: www.environment-
agency.gov.uk or by calling 08708 506 506.  It is prudent to keep a record 
of the waste carriers details including vehicle registration. 
 
If your waste is fly tipped and you did not check you could be liable for a 
fine of up to £5000.  

 

Page 16



 13

Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 5:   Commercial Waste 
 
 

i. HWRCs in Oxfordshire are provided for the disposal of waste from residents own 
homes only.   

 
ii. All businesses have a Duty of Care to ensure their waste is disposed of correctly 

and to cover the costs for the disposal and recycling of this waste.   
 
iii. The Council’s private HWRC management contractor(s) have a contractual duty to 

challenge site users to establish the source of incoming waste at a HWRC. Where 
there is sufficient reason to believe that waste is from a commercial source, site 
management staff may not allow that visitor to deposit their waste or may ask for a 
trade waste disclaimer to be completed. The information supplied is passed to the 
District Councils for investigation.   

 
iv. Businesses should make their own arrangements for the collection and/or disposal 

of their waste either through their local Waste Collection Authority or a private 
waste disposal company. The Council can provide information to advise 
businesses of their obligations and possible routes for dealing with their waste.   
This is available online at www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/waste or by calling 0845 050 
4550. 

 
v. The only site that is able to accept limited quantities of commercial waste is the 

Trade Waste Area adjacent to Redbridge HWRC.  This site has a weighbridge and 
can accept non-hazardous trade waste for recycling or disposal. There is a charge 
for this service and it is run entirely by the Council’s management contractors, 
including the setting and collection of charges. 

 
 

Page 17



 14

Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 6: Hazardous waste (Asbestos, Plasterboard 
and Engine Oil) 
 

Asbestos 
 
i. Under the EU Landfill Directive 1999 (Landfill Regulations 2002) and Control of 

Asbestos Regulations 2006. Asbestos cannot be disposed of in the landfill container at 
the HWRCs.  Ardley, Dix Pit and Redbridge HWRCs are able to accept sheets of 
cement bonded asbestos. Limits and procedures for dealing with this type of waste are 
in place to protect the health and safety of residents and site operatives.  For further 
information on asbestos visit the Health Protection Agency website at 
http://www.hpa.org.uk. 

 
ii. A maximum of eight sheets (size 6’ x 4’) or equivalent (such as one water tank) are 

permitted to be disposed of in any one visit. It is deemed that normal waste production 
rates from a domestic household would not exceed eight sheets over a one month 
period. Beyond this you may be asked to fill out a trade waste disclaimer form, or 
advised to find alternative disposal routes.  

 
iii. See www.direct.gov.uk for the most up to date information on dealing with non 

licensable asbestos materials.  A summary of general guidance is provided below. 

• wear a dust mask approved for asbestos;  

• wear disposable overalls and gloves; 

• keep other people away from the working area;  

• wet the material well with water containing a little washing up liquid; check that 
there is no potential for contact with electricity first;  

• always remove whole sheets or components; do not break them up;  

• double wrap all material in thick builders gauge polythene (400 gauge) and seal;  

• clean up all dust with a damp cloth and then seal it in a plastic bag whilst damp;  

• do not use a domestic vacuum cleaner as dust may pass through the filter.  

 
iv. Before visiting a site to dispose of cement bonded asbestos you must first telephone 

giving 24 hours notice to ensure the site is able to accept it, the containers have limited 
space.  You will need to give the site your name, address and telephone number. 
Contact numbers: Ardley 01869 343459, Dix 01865 880782 and Redbridge 01865 
721464. 

 
v. At the HWRC report to the office and follow the directions of the site staff.  You will be 

responsible for removing the material from your vehicle and placing it in the skip. 
Material must be placed in the skip carefully and not thrown in to avoid bags breaking. 
Material cannot be accepted on sites if it is too big for the container. 

 
vi. If you use a contractor or trades person to remove the asbestos material it is the 

responsibility of that company or trades person to dispose of this as commercial waste 
(see Policy Statement 5). Before hiring anyone to deal with cement bonded asbestos, 
you should also establish that they have the necessary licence and paperwork from 
the Environment Agency. 
 

Page 18



 15

vii. If you have any further questions, please contact the Waste Management Group on 
0845 050 4550 or email waste.management@oxfordshire.gov.uk. 
 
Plasterboard 

 
viii. Under the EU Landfill Directive 1999 (Landfill Regulations 2002), since April 2000, 

plasterboard and other gypsum wastes are banned from entering the landfill container 
at the HWRCs.  

 
ix. Plasterboard and other gypsum wastes are not defined as household waste and 

therefore Oxfordshire County Council are under no legal obligation to accept this 
material at the HWRC’s. However, we understand that some residents undertake DIY 
work and may have gypsum or plasterboard to dispose of.  

 
x. Plasterboard can only be accepted at Redbridge, Dix Pit and Ardley HWRCs and falls 

within the DIY 1,2,3 for Free scheme, please see Policy Statement 4 for full 
information and details on charges that may apply. 

 
Engine Oil 

 
i. Engine oil should be poured into the marked collection tanks at each HWRC. Used oil 

filters and containers should be deposited in the marked wheelie bins. 
 

ii. Oil should be presented at site in no more than 10 litre containers, due to the weight 
and the lifting required too pour the oil into the tank. 
 

iii. 25 litres of engine oil can be deposited per month.  
 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 7:   Hazardous waste (chemicals, solvents etc) 
 
i. Householders bringing chemicals to site must ensure that they are in sealed, 

undamaged containers.  If the chemical is not in the original container and as such is 
not labelled, householders should label according to their knowledge of the contents or 
the use of the product.  In these cases the item should be discussed with site staff 
before depositing. This is to help maintain the health and safety of the site and aid the 
contractor in managing materials. 

 
ii. Householders must make site staff aware of any materials that may be considered 

hazardous.  Site staff will then direct householders to the appropriate place for 
disposal. 

 
iii. Please note that we cannot accept items with the following symbol abbreviations: C/ E/ 

F+/ F/ O. The abbreviations as symbols present on packaging are available at 
http://www.hse.gov.uk/chip/phrases.htm#abbrev. 

 
iv. Chemicals can only be accepted in the quantities associated with the normal 

production from a home.  Please note if you are moving into a new home, the 
clearance of chemicals from garages and sheds is the responsibility of the previous 
owner.  

 
v. Pharmaceuticals cannot be accepted on sites and should be returned to a pharmacy 

for safe disposal.  Veterinary supplies also cannot be accepted and should be returned 
to a vets practice for safe disposal. 

Page 19



 16

 
vi. Ammunition and fireworks cannot be accepted at HWRCs.  Please contact Thames 

Valley Police to arrange disposal of these items on 0845 8 505 505. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 8:   Paint 
 
i. A ban on liquids entering landfill came into effect in 2007. In order to comply with 

guidance from the Environment Agency, HWRCs cannot accept the disposal of tins of 
liquid paint in the general landfill container.  The following rules must therefore be 
adhered to depending on the type of paint tins presented: 

 
• Any empty and dry metal paint tins can be placed in the scrap metal container. 
• Any empty and dry plastic paint tins can be placed in the landfill bin. 
• All water-based liquid paint must be made solid before visiting the site. This can 

be done by adding sand, soil or sawdust to the excess paint to ensure that it is 
not in liquid form.  Any solidified tins of water-based paint can then be disposed 
of in the landfill container.   

• All solvent based liquid paint must be placed in the hazardous waste cabinets 
at the HWRC.   

 
ii. Householders must “solidify” tins of water-based paint using the above method before 

arriving at the HWRC.  Householders attempting to dispose of tins of liquid paint will be 
turned back by site staff with appropriate guidance for their next visit. 

 
iii. As paint is a difficult waste stream to dispose of, residents are advised to seek to 

minimise waste paint where possible.  This includes minimising the quantities left over 
(by following guidance of amounts needed or coverage when purchasing) and seeking 
to reuse any left over paint in the community before disposal (for example by donating 
to a school, community group, or paint reuse project). 

 
iv. If you have any further questions, please contact the Waste Management Group on 

0845 050 4550 or email; waste.management@oxfordshire.gov.uk. 
 
 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 9:   Tyres 
 
i. Tyres are banned from entering landfill, under SI 2002/1559 of the Landfill Directive, 

whole tyres where banned from Landfill in 2003 and shredded tyres in 2006. Under the 
legislation tyres are not classified as household waste, and therefore a charge can be 
made towards the cost of collection and disposal.  

 

Page 20



 17

ii. Following legislation tyres can no longer be disposed of in landfill. In order to 
discourage trade abuse of tyre disposal at HWRCs a limit has been put on the number 
of tyres that can be accepted to ensure that they are from a household source.   

 
iii. A household can dispose of up to five car or motor bike tyres from a household source 

at an HWRC in any one visit, visits to deposit tyres are limited to two per year.  
 

iv. Tyres with a hub rim of over 20 inches will not be accepted. 
 
v. A charge of £2.50 will be levied per tyre. 
 

vi. HWRCs will not accept tyres from trade, or any commercial type tyres. 
 

vii. Tyres from a push bike will be accepted free of charge. They should be separated from 
the main frame of the bike, and a maximum of 5 bicycle tyres may be deposited a 
month. 

 

Page 21



 18

Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 10:   Exchange of Goods at Sites 
 

i. For operational efficiency the exchange or sale of goods on site between individual 
householders is not permitted.  

 
ii. Once goods are placed in the containers or collection areas of the HWRC 

ownership of these goods passes to the Council’s management contractor.  
 
iii. There is a small area for the sale of reusable items on site at Ardley Fields HWRC 

which is operated privately by the site contractor.  
 
iv. The Council encourages residents to consider whether their goods are in good 

condition and reusable before visiting HWRCs.  Good quality and reusable goods 
should be directed to one of the many reuse organisations or charities in the 
County or traded / exchanged privately. Visit http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/waste, 
call 0845 050 4550 or email waste.management@oxfordshire.gov.uk for advice 
about reuse. 

 
 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
 
Policy Statement 11:   Site Rules Enforcement 
 
 

i. Health and Safety:   The Council and its site management contractors and staff 
shall operate the HWRCs in accordance with health and safety requirements, the 
Council’s safety policy, and contractors’ own health and safety operational rules.   

 
ii. Any visitors to any site shall comply with any such health and safety requirements, 

and must follow the directions of site staff in their application of rules.  Failure to so 
comply may result in the person(s) being refused entry or directed to leave the site. 
 

iii. The main risk to the health and safety of visitors on sites arise from traffic 
movements.  Visitors must pay due care and attention, comply with speed limits 
and ask site staff if assistance is required with manoeuvring a vehicle.  Whilst using 
the site, visitors should remain on any marked paths or walkways and not cross 
parking bays. 

 
iv. Please follow all instructions from staff and information signs. 

 
v. Children should remain in vehicles at all times or be suitably supervised.  Any 

animals must also remain secured in owners vehicles. 
 
vi. No smoking will be permitted within the public areas of any HWRC. 

 
vii. Cars are parked at your own risk. 
 
viii. Suitable footwear should be worn at all times. 
 
ix. Should you require assistance alert a member of staff, either verbally or by 

sounding your car horn. 
 

Page 22



 19

x. Waste should be segregated for recycling as far as possible and be deposited in 
the correct container. 

 
xi. We will not accept verbal or physical abuse to any staff.  Visitors may be asked to 

moderate behaviour.  Should such abuse continue visitors will be asked to leave 
the site at the discretion of the site manager. CCTV is installed to ensure the health 
and safety of all site users. 

 
xii. The Council shall support site management in their operating of the site in relation 

to waste being deposited and site visitors where the actions of management have 
been reasonable and in accordance with the Council policy. 

 
xiii. Busy Times and Operational Manoeuvres on sites:   At busy periods or whilst 

bins are being manoeuvred, emptied or compacted, customers may be asked to 
wait to access the site or use the bins.  Site staff shall endeavour to observe 
incoming visitors and as appropriate be proactive in advising waiting visitors of 
possible delays, requesting patience, and stressing the health and safety needs on 
site that prevent faster throughput of visitors. 

 
xiv. Should the site become so busy that it becomes necessary to temporarily deny 

access to customers, the Contractor shall ensure that suitable arrangements are 
made to notify customers who may be waiting of why the temporary closure is in 
force and how long it is expected to last.  A member of the Contractor’s staff shall 
also be available to deal with queries. 

 
xv. A site shall only be closed in exceptional circumstances, such as inclement 

weather, serious health and safety risks, formal investigations, emergencies, and 
only following discussion with and approval of the Council’s Representative.  Any 
such closure shall be of as short a duration as practicable and will be posted on the 
Council’s website at the earliest opportunity. 

 
 

Page 23



 20

Annex 1: Location, addresses and contact details of Waste 
Recycling Centres 
 
 

 

Page 24



 21

 
1 Alkerton Landfill and Waste Recycling Centre 

Alkerton 
OX15 6HZ 
 
(01295) 670648 

2 Ardley Fields landfill and Waste Recycling Centre 
Brackley Road 
Ardley 
OX27 7PH 
 
(01869) 343459 

3 Dean Pit Waste Recycling Centre 
Grove Lane  
Chadlington  
Nr Chipping Norton  
OX7 3JY 
 
(01608) 676564 

4 Redbridge Waste Recycling Centre 
Abingdon Road 
Oxford 
OX1 4XG 
 
(01865) 721464 

5 
 
 

Dix Pit Landfill and Waste Recycling Centre 
Linch Hill 
Stanton Harcourt 
OX29 5BB 
 
(01865) 880782 

6 Drayton Waste Recycling Centre 
Steventon Road  
Drayton  
Nr Abingdon  
OX14 4LA 
 
(01235) 531281 

7 Oakley Wood Waste Recycling Centre 
Henley Road  
Crowmarsh  
Nr Wallingford  
OX10 6PW 
 
(01491) 837430 

8 Stanford in the Vale Waste Recycling Centre 
Faringdon Road  
Stanford in the Vale  
SN7 8LD 
 
(01367) 718804 

 
For all general enquires please contact Waste Management Group on 08450 504550

Page 25



 22

 
 
 
Annex 2:  Materials Recyclable at Oxfordshire HWRCs 
 
All materials are governed by the general policies in this document.  However, some materials are subject to additional policies and guidance. 
 
Materials accepted at each site may be subject to change.  Please see website for latest information or contact 0845 050 4550 
 
 

HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRES IN OXFORDSHIRE 
                    
  Additional policies in place.   Alkerton Ardley 

Fields 
Dean Dix Drayton Oakley 

Wood 
Redbridge 
Household 

Stanford 

Aerosols   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Aluminium Foil   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Asbestos* See Policy Statement 8. Maximum of eight 

sheets (size 6’ x 4’) per visit.  Visits limited 
to one per month. 

  ●   ●     ●   

Batteries (car & 
h/hold)  

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

Bikes - for reuse             ●   
Bikes - scrap metal   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Books (Hardback 
covers in landfill) 

   ●       

Cans   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Cardboard   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Chemicals  ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Computers   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
DIY Waste* See Policy Statement 5. Subject to 1-2-3 

for Free Policy 
● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

Drinks Cartons 
(Tetrapaks) 

  ● ● ● ● ●  ● ● 

Electrical items   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Engine oil and filters   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Fridges & Freezers   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

P
age 26



 23

Fluorescent Tubes   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Furniture (for reuse)         ●        
Gas Cylinders   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Glass   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Green Waste   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Hardcore and rubble See Policy Statement 5. Subject to "1-2-3 

for Free" Policy 
● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

Light Bulbs   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Mobile Phones   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Oil Filters   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Paint Tins (no liquid 
paint) 

See Policy Statement 9:  No liquid paint 
is permitted at sites. 

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

Paper   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Plasterboard Plasterboard cannot be disposed of in 

the general landfill skip and therefore 
must be taken to a site with facilities. 

  ●   ●     ●   

Plastics (Type 1 and 2 
only) 

  ●  ● ● ● ● ● ● 

Scrap Metal   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Soil See Policy Statement 5. Subject to "1-2-3 

for Free" Policy 
● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

Televisions   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Textiles   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Timber   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Tyres* See Policy Statement 10: Charged at 

£2.50 a unit, 5 tyres per visit and limited 
to 2 visits per year 

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 

 * restricted amount                   
 
 

P
age 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



Division(s): N/A 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR GROWTH & INFRASTRUCTURE 
25 NOVEMBER 2010 

 

OXFORDSHIRE MINERALS AND WASTE DEVELOPMENT 
FRAMEWORK: ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2010 

 
Report by Interim Head of Sustainable Development 

 

Introduction 
 
1. Under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the County Council 

must make an Annual Monitoring Report on the Oxfordshire Minerals and 
Waste Development Framework (MWDF) to the Secretary of State.  

 
2. The purpose of Annual Monitoring Reports (AMRs) is to assess and report on 

implementation of the local development scheme (the programme for 
preparation of the MWDF) and the extent to which policies are being 
achieved.  Previous AMRs, for 2005 to 2009, are available on the Council’s 
website. 

 
Annual Monitoring Report 2009 

 
3. The AMR for 2010 must be submitted to the Secretary of State by 31 

December 2010.  It should cover the 12 month period 1 April 2009 to 31 
March 2010.  A draft AMR 2010 is Annexed. 

 
Implementation of the Local Development Scheme 

 
4. The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste (Local) Development Scheme came into 

effect in May 2005.  The Scheme should be reviewed and revised when 
necessary to maintain an up to date 3 year programme.  A number of 
revisions have been submitted to the Government Office for the South East 
(GOSE).  We are currently working to the programme agreed by the Cabinet 
on 19 October 2010.  This AMR reports on progress against that programme.   

 
5. The current programme concentrates on preparation of the Minerals and 

Waste Core Strategy, with the following main stages: 
• May 2009 – consultation on scope of Sustainability Appraisal; 
• to July 2011 – generation of and consultation on Minerals and Waste 

Strategy Options and Preferred Strategies; 
• December 2011 – publish Proposed Submission Document; 
• February 2012 – submit Core Strategy to Secretary of State; 
• May 2012 – Independent Examination hearings; 
• November 2012 – adopt Minerals and Waste Core Strategy. 

 
6. The Core Strategy will set out the vision, objectives, spatial strategy and core 

policies for minerals supply and waste management in Oxfordshire.  Site 
allocations are expected to be identified in a separate site allocations 
document, to be prepared when the Core Strategy is further advanced.   

Agenda Item 5

Page 29



CMDGI5 
 

 
7. During the reporting year, consultation was carried out on the sustainability 

appraisal scoping report in May 2009, and a revised scoping report  
published.  Draft minerals strategy options were generated and key 
stakeholders consulted on these in February – March 2010. 

 
8. Following further stakeholder consultation on minerals strategy options in July 

2010, the Cabinet agreed an interim preferred strategy approach for mineral 
working for the short to medium term on 19 October 2010.  We have now 
commissioned consultants to carry out a local assessment of the minerals 
supply requirements for Oxfordshire.  The interim preferred strategy will be 
tested for delivery and, if necessary, modified when this assessment has been 
done.  Consultation on the preferred minerals strategy will then be undertaken 
in spring 2011.  The waste strategy will also be progressed in 2011. 

 
9. The Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in November 2006.  

The need to update this will be kept under review having regard to changes in 
government policy and procedures on plan making and in the County 
Council’s consultation policies and procedures. 

 
Monitoring Achievement of Policies 

 
10. The minerals and waste development documents that will make up the MWDF 

have not yet been prepared and therefore it is not yet possible to report on the 
extent to which policies in them are being achieved.  The Minerals and Waste 
Development Scheme also includes the ‘saved’ policies from the Oxfordshire 
Structure Plan and Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  Those policies are 
generally not written in a way that enables their achievement to be reported 
on, but the AMR covers issues which relate to the implementation of policies.   

 
11. The Secretary of State has directed that 46 of the policies in the Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan are ‘saved’ until replaced by new polices in the MWDF.  
The Oxfordshire Structure Plan 2016 was replaced by the South East Plan in 
May 2009, but three policies continue to be saved including policy M2 on 
locations for sand and gravel working.   

 
12. The AMR 2010 monitors the following: 

(a) Production of land-won aggregate minerals (sand and gravel, soft sand, 
limestone and ironstone); 

(b) Permissions granted for aggregate mineral extraction; 
(c) Landbanks of permitted reserves of aggregate minerals; 
(d) Provision for mineral extraction in the Development Plan; 
(e) Production of secondary and recycled aggregates; 
(f) Amounts of waste arising and managed by different methods; 
(g) Permissions granted for waste management facilities; 
(h) Capacity of waste management facilities of different types; 
(i) Provision for waste management in the Development Plan. 

 
Conclusions 

 
13. The main findings of the AMR 2010 and issues raised are: 

(a) Production of aggregate minerals fell again in 2009 to: 627,000 tonnes 
sand and gravel and 433,000 tonnes crushed rock.  These levels are 

Page 30



CMDGI5 
 

substantially below the current apportionments for Oxfordshire: 1.82 
million tonnes per annum sand and gravel and 1.0 million tonnes per 
annum crushed rock.  The current assessment of aggregates supply 
requirements should produce locally derived alternative figures. 

(b) 78% of sand and gravel and 50% of crushed rock produced in 2009 was 
used in Oxfordshire; most of the remainder went to adjoining counties.  
Crushed rock was brought in to three rail depots.  A more comprehensive 
picture of movements of aggregates into and out of Oxfordshire needs to 
be built up as part of the assessment of aggregates requirements.   

(c) The amount of sand and gravel permitted in 2009 was less than the 
amount produced, although two large permissions have since been 
granted.  The landbank of permitted reserves of sand and gravel is below 
the 7 years required by government policy.  There is only approximately 
1.0 million tonnes of sand and gravel remaining in sites in the Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan.  There is a need to complete the Core Strategy 
and prepare a minerals site allocations document, to provide mineral 
working locations for the next 15 to 20 years. 

(d) Data on production of secondary and recycled aggregates for 2009 – 
286,000 tonnes – is incomplete and is believed to be significantly under-
recorded.  Secondary and recycled aggregates production capacity is 
approximately 1.1 million tonnes per annum, more than the 
apportionment of 0.9 million tonnes per annum.  A more comprehensive 
picture of secondary and recycled aggregates supply needs to be built up 
as part of the assessment of aggregates requirements, which will 
produce a locally derived figure for the capacity required. 

(e) Approximately 2.2 million tonnes of waste is generated in Oxfordshire 
each year, comprising: 58% construction and demolition waste; 28% 
commercial and industrial waste and 14% municipal waste.  Commercial 
and industrial and construction and demolition wastes together form the 
great majority of the waste that the Core Strategy needs to make 
provision for. 

(f) In 2009/10, 47% of municipal waste was diverted from landfill by 
recycling and composting.  Approximately 40% of construction and 
demolition waste and 47% of commercial and industrial waste is 
landfilled.  There is a need to complete the Core Strategy and prepare a 
waste site allocations document to provide the locations required for 
increased diversion of wastes from landfill through recycling, composting 
and resource recovery treatment. 

(g) Data for municipal waste is accurate and up to date, but data for the other 
waste streams is less certain and data on cross boundary movements of 
waste is incomplete.  Data on waste arisings and management is being 
improved through an assessment of waste management needs for the 
Core Strategy, including through liaison with the Environment Agency 
and other authorities. 

(h) Permissions for additional waste management capacity were granted in 
2009/10 totalling: 2.8 million tonnes (mainly inert) landfill; 354,000 tonnes 
per annum recycling and 55,000 tonnes per annum composting.  Current 
waste management capacity in Oxfordshire totals: 20,750,000 tonnes 
landfill and 2.8 million tonnes per annum recycling, composting and other 
recovery treatment (much of which is in temporary permissions or is not 
yet operational).  The assessment of waste management needs will 
establish the gap in provision that needs to be addressed in the Core 
Strategy. 

Page 31



CMDGI5 
 

 
Sustainability Implications 

 
14. Each document forming part of the MWDF must be subject to sustainability 

appraisal (including strategic environmental assessment).  This is being 
carried out as an integral part of preparation of the Core Strategy. 

 
Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 
15. The Council has a statutory duty to produce the MWDF, to provide a planning 

strategy, policies and proposals for the supply of minerals and management 
of waste in Oxfordshire.  The MWDF can contribute to the Council’s strategic 
objectives of world class economy, healthy and thriving communities and 
environment and climate change. 

 
Financial and Staff Implications 

 
16. The programme of work for the MWDF is included within the Directorate work 

priorities.  This report does not raise any additional financial or staffing 
implications. 

 
Risk Management 

 
17. The complexity of the MWDF process and the potential implications for major 

mineral working and waste management proposals emphasise the importance 
of good project management and regular reporting on risk management. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

18. The Cabinet Member for Growth &Infrastructure is RECOMMENDED: 
 

(a) to approve in principle the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 
Development Framework Annual Monitoring Report 2010 annexed 
to this report; 

 
(b) to authorise the Head of Sustainable Development to carry out 

any necessary final editing of the Annual Monitoring Report 2010; 
to submit it to the Secretary of State and publish it on the County 
Council website in accordance with Section 35 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Regulation 48 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
Regulations 2004. 

 
 
MARTIN TUGWELL 
Interim Head of Sustainable Development 
Environment & Economy 
 
Background Papers: Nil 
 
Contact Officer:  Peter Day, tel. Oxford 815544 
 

Page 32



CMDGI5 
 

November 2010 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



CMDGI5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 
Development Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINERALS AND WASTE 
ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2010 

 
 
 

December 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Published in accordance with Section 35 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

Page 35



CMDGI5 

Contents 
 
Summary  
 
1 Introduction 
1.1 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Development Framework 
1.2 Role of Annual Monitoring Report 
 
2 Context for Minerals and Waste Planning in Oxfordshire 
2.1 Oxfordshire’s Characteristics 
2.2 Minerals 
2.3 Waste 
2.4 Minerals and Waste Policy Context 
2.5 Local Development framework Indicators 
 
3 Minerals and Waste Development Scheme Progress 
3.1 Submission of Minerals and Waste Development Scheme 
3.2 Preparation of Minerals and Waste Development Documents 
 
4 Monitoring Achievement of Policies and Indicators 
4.1 Production of Primary Land-Won Aggregates 
4.2 Permissions Granted for Working of Primary Aggregates 
4.3 Landbank of Permitted Reserves of Aggregates 
4.4 Provision of Sites for Mineral Working in Development Plan 
4.5 Production of Secondary and Recycled Aggregates and Capacity of 

Facilities 
4.6 Number and Capacity of Rail Depot Facilities 
4.7 Arisings and management of Waste 
4.8 Capacity of New and Improved Waste Management Facilities 
4.9 Total Capacity of Waste Management Facilities 
4.10 Provision of Sites for Waste Management in Development Plan 
 
5 Conclusions and Key Issues to be Addressed 
 
Appendix 1 Draft Schedule of Proposed Minerals and Waste Development 

Documents 
Appendix 2 Key Waste Targets 
Appendix 3 Map of Active Aggregate Quarries in Oxfordshire 
Appendix 4 Map of Permitted Waste Management Facilities in Oxfordshire 
 
Glossary 
 

Page 36



CMDGI5 

Summary 
 
(to be inserted) 
 

Page 37



CMDGI5 
 

 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Development Framework 
 
1.1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 brought in 

substantial changes to the planning system.  The previous system of 
local plans has been replaced by local development frameworks.  The 
Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan is therefore being replaced 
by the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Development Framework 
(MWDF).  Government policy on local development frameworks is 
contained in Planning Policy Statement 12 ‘Local Spatial Planning’, 
June 2008 (PPS12). 

 
1.1.2 The MWDF will be a portfolio of minerals and waste development 

documents, including development plan documents and possibly also 
supplementary planning documents, setting out strategy, policies and 
proposals for minerals and waste development for a period of at least 
15 years.  It will also include the Statement of Community Involvement, 
the Minerals and Waste Development Scheme and Annual Monitoring 
Reports. 

 
1.1.3 The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Development Scheme sets out 

the programme for preparation of the documents that will make up the 
MWDF.  An initial Development Scheme was agreed in May 2005 and 
a number of revisions have subsequently been made to this, as 
detailed in section 3.1.  In October 2010, a further revised programme 
was agreed by the County Council’s Cabinet and this is being used as 
the current programme for the MWDF (see paragraph 3.1.6).  This 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) reports on progress against this 
programme.   

 
1.2 Role of the Annual Monitoring Report 
 
1.2.1  Section 35 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

requires every local planning authority to prepare an Annual Monitoring 
Report (AMR) for the Secretary of State on its local development 
framework.  Regulation 48 of The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development) (England) Regulations 2004 requires AMRs to be made 
for each 12 month period ending on 31 March and to be submitted by 
the following 31 December each year.  It also specifies certain 
information the AMR must contain. 

 
1.2.2 The AMR must report on implementation of the Minerals and Waste 

Development Scheme and on the extent to which policies and related 
targets in Minerals and Waste Development Documents are being 
achieved or, where they are not being achieved, the reasons why.  
Monitoring will also indicate if policies need changing, and the actions 
needed to achieve this. 

 

Page 38



CMDGI5 
 

 

1.2.3 Oxfordshire AMRs have previously been prepared for the years 2005 to 
2009.  These are available on the County Council website.  This is the 
sixth Oxfordshire AMR (2010), for the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 
2010.  It has been prepared having regard to guidance in ‘Local 
Development Framework Monitoring: A Good Practice Guide’ (DCLG, 
March 2005). 

 
1.2.4 This AMR sets the context for minerals and waste planning in 

Oxfordshire (Section 2); reviews the extent to which the Minerals and 
Waste Development Scheme has been implemented, highlighting 
whether the timetable and milestones have been met or the progress 
that has been made towards them (Section 3); reports on the 
achievement of development plan policies and the government’s core 
output indicators and regional indicators during the monitoring period (1 
April 2009 to 31 March 2010) (Section 4); and sets out the key issues 
that monitoring shows need to be addressed in the Minerals and Waste 
Development Framework (Section 5). 

 
1.2.5 The data in this AMR is from various sources.  Data on production and 

reserves of aggregates in Oxfordshire is from the annual aggregates 
monitoring reports produced by the South East England Regional 
Aggregates Working Party.  Data on arisings and management of 
waste is mainly from the Environment Agency and the County Council 
(Waste Management Group).  Data on waste management capacity is 
from a review of site capacities carried out by the County Council and 
from planning permissions.  Data on planning permissions granted for 
the working of minerals and for new and improved waste management 
facilities is from planning decisions made by the County Council. 

 

Page 39



CMDGI5 
 

 

 
2 Context for Minerals and Waste Planning in Oxfordshire 

2.1 Oxfordshire’s Characteristics 

2.1.1 Oxfordshire enjoys a unique position in the country, covering an area 
from the Cotswolds in the north and west to the Chilterns in the south 
east and the Berkshire Downs to the south west.  The River Thames 
and River Cherwell flow through the county, and there are large areas 
of attractive countryside, villages and market towns and the world-
renowned historic city of Oxford, which provide a high quality living 
environment. 

2.1.2 The county covers 260,800 hectares with 78% of the land area under 
agricultural management.  The Cotswolds, Chilterns and North Wessex 
Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty together cover 24% of 
Oxfordshire.  Much of the central part of the county, around Oxford, is 
Green Belt.  The main towns are Oxford, Banbury, Bicester, Witney, 
Abingdon, Didcot, and Wantage and Grove.  It is the South East of 
England’s most rural county; with 635,500 residents across 1,006 
square miles, it has the lowest population density in the South East.   

2.2 Minerals 

2.2.1 The main minerals worked in Oxfordshire are sharp sand and gravel, 
soft sand, limestone and ironstone, all mainly for aggregate use.  
Chalk, clay and fullers earth have also been worked.  These minerals  
are worked predominantly to supply local markets, except for Fullers 
Earth which is a nationally scarce mineral. 

2.2.2 Aggregate minerals account for most of Oxfordshire’s production: in 
2009 the County produced 627,000 tonnes of sand and gravel and 
433,000 tonnes of crushed rock (limestone and ironstone).  There is a 
need to make continued provision for aggregates production in the 
County.  In addition, production of aggregates from recycled 
construction and demolition waste and secondary materials (mainly 
power station ash) is important; at least 286,000 tonnes were produced 
in Oxfordshire in 2009.  Significant quantities of aggregates are also 
imported into Oxfordshire by rail. 

2.3 Waste 

2.3.1 Oxfordshire’s residents, industries, businesses and other organisations 
produce around 2.2 million tonnes of waste a year.  This mainly 
comprises municipal, commercial and industrial, and construction, 
demolition and excavation wastes, with smaller quantities of hazardous 
wastes.  This waste all has to be treated or disposed somewhere.  At 
present the main method of management is disposal at local landfill 
sites.  

2.3.2 In addition, Oxfordshire receives waste from outside the county, in 
particular waste by rail from London, which does not have sufficient 

Page 40



CMDGI5 
 

 

facilities to deal with all its own waste.  To move towards a more 
sustainable approach to waste management will require substantial 
changes, including making provision for new waste treatment facilities. 

 

2.4 Minerals and Waste Policy Context 
 
 National Policy 

2.4.1 National policy on planning for minerals is mainly contained in the 
Government’s minerals policy statements (MPSs) and minerals 
planning guidance notes (MPGs).  The main one of relevance to 
minerals is MPS1 ‘Planning and Minerals’ (DCLG, November 2006).  
MPS1 contains national objectives and policies for mineral planning 
and is of particular relevance to the preparation of development plans; 
and it includes specific policy for making provision for the supply of 
aggregates.  Also relevant are the ‘National and Regional Guidelines 
for Aggregates Provision in England, 2005-2020’ (DCLG, June 2009).  
Further national guidance is contained in ‘Planning and Minerals: 
Practice Guide’ (DCLG, November 2006).  In addition, MPS2 
‘Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of Minerals 
Extraction in England’ (DCLG, March 2005) is relevant to the framing of 
policies in development plans. 

2.4.2 There are a number of national policy documents relevant to waste 
planning; these incorporate European policy and apply it at the national 
level.  The ‘Waste Strategy for England 2007’ was published in May 
2007 and sets out the Government’s vision and strategy for managing 
waste in a more sustainable way; it sets targets for sustainable 
management of waste, including targets for reducing the amount of 
waste disposed to landfill and increasing the recovery of resources 
from waste.  This strategy is now being reviewed by the Coalition 
Government and a revised strategy is expected in 2011.  Planning 
Policy Statement 10 (PPS10) ‘Planning for Sustainable Waste 
Management’ (DCLG, July 2005) sets out the Government’s policy on 
planning for waste management and forms part of the national waste 
management plan for the UK.  It contains key planning objectives and 
decision making principles and sets out the Government’s policy on 
how development plans should make provision for waste management 
facilities.  PPS10 is supplemented by ‘Planning for Sustainable Waste 
Management: Companion Guide to Planning Policy Statement 10’ 
(DCLG, June 2006) which provides practice guidance on 
implementation of policies.  

 
 Regional Policy 
 
2.4.3 As at 31 March 2010, regional policy for minerals and waste planning 

was contained in The South East Plan – Regional Spatial Strategy for 
the South East of England (GOSE, May 2009).  This included a 
regional waste strategy and regional minerals strategy (chapter 10).  

Page 41



CMDGI5 
 

 

The South East Plan covered the period to 2026 and included 17 
policies on waste (W1 – W17) and 5 policies on minerals (M1 – M5).  It 
set regional targets for diversion of waste from landfill, recycling and 
composting and regional landfill requirements; and for each waste 
planning authority it set waste management capacity requirements, 
with an indication of additional capacity requirements, and a sub-
regional apportionment of landfill provision for London waste.  It also 
set regional targets for recycled and secondary aggregates, with an 
apportionment by mineral planning authority of the provision to be 
made; and an apportionment by mineral planning authority of the 
regional supply requirements for sand and gravel and crushed rock 
aggregates. 

 
2.4.4 The South East Plan (Policies M2 and M3) set the aggregates 

apportionment figures for Oxfordshire as: recycled and secondary 
aggregates – 0.9 million tonnes per annum; sand and gravel – 1.82 
million tonnes per annum; and crushed rock – 1.0 million tonnes per 
annum.  The Secretary of State’s Proposed Changes to the revision of 
South East Plan Policy M3 were published on 19 March 2010.  These 
include revised apportionment figures for Oxfordshire: 2.1 million 
tonnes per annum for sand and gravel; and 0.66 million tonnes per 
annum for crushed rock.  In the light of the Coalition Government’s 
localism agenda, the County Council has commissioned consultants to 
undertake a local assessment of aggregates supply requirements for 
Oxfordshire. 

 
 Local Policy 
 
2.4.5 The County Council adopted the Oxfordshire Structure Plan 2016 on 

21 October 2005.  Three policies have been saved from the Structure 
Plan; these include policy M2 on sand and gravel, which states that 
locations for sand and gravel working will be identified in the Minerals 
and Waste Development Framework.  The saved policies are on the 
County Council website: 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/links/public/planningpolicy. 

 
2.4.6 The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan was adopted in July 

1996.  It contains detailed policies for the supply of minerals and 
provision of waste management facilities and for the control of minerals 
and waste developments.  It covered a 10 year period, to 2006.  Under 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the policies of this 
Plan were ‘saved’ (i.e. continued to have effect) to 27 September 2007.  
In September 2007 the Secretary of State directed that 46 of the plan 
policies are ‘saved’ beyond 27 September 2007.  These policies will 
remain in force until replaced by new policies in adopted development 
plan documents.  The other policies have now expired.  Details of the 
saved policies of the plan are available on the County Council website: 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/links/public/mineralsandwastepolicy. 

 

Page 42



CMDGI5 
 

 

2.4.7 The Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Strategy ‘No Time to Waste’ 
was approved by all members of the Oxfordshire Waste Partnership 
(the County Council and the 5 District Councils in Oxfordshire) in 
September 2006.  The Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Strategy 
does not form part of the development plan for planning, but it is an 
important material consideration.  It sets challenging local targets for 
the management of municipal waste.  It identifies a need for new waste 
treatment facilities, in addition to increased recycling and composting, 
to significantly reduce the quantity of biodegradable waste sent to 
landfill.  The Strategy contains 14 policies although not all are relevant 
to spatial planning. 

 
2.4.8 The County Council advertised a contract for treatment of residual 

municipal waste in March 2007.  In January 2008, two companies – 
Viridor Waste Management Ltd and Waste Recycling Group Ltd – were 
selected to provide detailed solutions.  Both bidders proposed an 
energy from waste incinerator, located at Ardley (Viridor) or Sutton 
Courtenay (WRG).  In September 2009, Viridor were selected as 
preferred bidder.  Planning applications were submitted for both 
proposals.  In October 2009, the County Council’s Planning and 
Regulation Committee refused permission for both planning 
applications.  Viridor appealed to the Secretary of State and a public 
inquiry was held in July 2010  The Secretary of State’s decision on the 
appeal is expected in January 2011.  Viridor also submitted a revised 
application.  This was considered by the Planning and Regulation 
Committee in October 2010, when it was resolved that permission be 
granted.  Subject to finalisation of the contract and planning 
permission, the new waste treatment facility at Ardley is expected to be 
operational in 2014. 

 
2.4.9 In 2009 the County Council awarded a contract for food waste 

treatment to Agrivert Ltd to provide for increased diversion of 
biodegradable municipal waste from landfill and enable recovery of 
resources.  The contractor proposes to provide three facilities: an in-
vessel composting plant at Ardley (Ashgrove Farm) and an anaerobic 
digestion plant at Cassington (Worton Farm) are now in operation; and 
a planning application has been submitted for a second anaerobic 
digestion plant at Crowmarsh (Battle Farm). 

 
 
2.5 Local Development Framework Indicators 
 
2.5.1 This section sets out the indicators to assess the effectiveness of 

minerals and waste planning policies in Oxfordshire.  The government 
has published ‘Regional and Spatial Strategy and Local Development 
Framework Core Output Indicators – Update 2/2008’ (DCLG, July 
2008).  These should be monitored and the results of monitoring 
included in AMRs.  The national core output indicators that are relevant 
to minerals and waste planning are: 

 

Page 43



CMDGI5 
 

 

M1 Production of primary land won aggregates, by mineral 
planning authority; 

M2 Production of secondary and recycled aggregates, by 
mineral planning authority; 

W1 Capacity of new waste management facilities, by waste 
planning authority; 

W2 Amount of municipal waste arising, and managed by 
management type, by waste planning authority. 

 
2.5.2 The former (now dissolved) South East England Regional Partnership 

Board (SEEPB) (which replaced the South East England Regional 
Assembly – SEERA), produced guidance notes on monitoring regional 
minerals and waste indicators.  These set out a consistent approach for 
monitoring across minerals and waste planning authorities on five 
waste and five mineral indicators, which could then be collated for the 
South East as a whole to enabled monitoring of performance against 
policies and targets in the South East Plan. 

 
2.5.3 These regional indicators aim to provide useful information.  But it is 

not possible to report against all of them due to data limitations, and 
some duplicate or are similar to the national indicators, as noted below: 

 
Regional Minerals Indicators 
 
Indicator 79 The production of primary land-won aggregates 

(duplicates core output indicator M1). 
Indicator 80 Amount of secondary aggregates and recycled material 

used (data not available; use core output indicator M2 
instead). 

Indicator 81 The amount of recycled construction, demolition and 
mineral waste used (million tonnes) and as a proportion of 
south east production and consumption (data not 
available). 

Indicator 82 Scale of permitted reserves for sand, gravel, crushed 
rock, brick clay, chalk, silica sand and gypsum (only sand, 
gravel and crushed rock are relevant to Oxfordshire). 

Indicator 83 The number and capacity of safeguarded wharf and rail 
depot facilities (capacity figures are not available).   

 
Regional Waste Indicators 
 
Indicator 70 Waste generation and growth rates of major waste 

streams (reliable data only available for municipal waste; 
partly duplicates core output indicator W2). 

Indicator 71a Amount of municipal waste arising and managed by 
management type, and the percentage each management 
type represents of the total waste managed (partly 
duplicates core output indicator W2). 

Page 44



CMDGI5 
 

 

Indicator 71b Percentage of the total tonnage of all types of waste 
recycled, composted, recovered (including energy 
recovery) and landfilled. 

Indicator 72 Waste movements, particularly exports from London 
(reliable data not currently available). 

Indicator 73 Capacity of new waste management capacity by waste 
planning authority area. (duplicates core output indicator 
W1) 

 
2.5.4 The Local Development Framework Monitoring Good Practice Guide 

(DCLG, March 2005) advises that local indicators should be identified 
to assess policies not covered by the core indicators.  Local indicators 
for will be developed as part of a system for monitoring policies in the 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.  This will include indicators fro both 
minerals and waste.  In the meantime, the following additional minerals 
factors are monitored in this AMR: 

• Distribution of aggregates produced from quarries in 
Oxfordshire. 

• Annual extraction of aggregates from quarries relative to 
the landbank of permitted reserves. 

 

Page 45



CMDGI5 
 

 

3 Minerals and Waste Development Scheme Progress 

3.1 Submission of Minerals and Waste Development Scheme 

3.1.1 The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Development Scheme (2005 – 
2008) was submitted to the Secretary of State in March 2005 and was 
brought into effect on 16 May 2005.  

3.1.2 A first review of the Minerals and Waste Development Scheme, March 
2006 (2006 – 2009) was submitted in March 2006, but the Secretary of 
State issued a holding direction to allow more time to consider it.  
Consequently the revised scheme could not be brought into effect.  A 
second review of the Minerals and Waste Development Scheme, 
March 2007 (2007 – 2010) was submitted to the Secretary of State in 
March 2007 but was not finalised due to uncertainty over how the 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy should be progressed. 

3.1.3 Following comments from the Government Office for the South East on 
the Core Strategy Preferred Options, there was uncertainty over the 
soundness of the Core Strategy which delayed the programmes for 
both the Core Strategy and the Minerals and Waste Sites documents.  
In November 2007 the Government consulted on proposals for 
changes to the local development framework system.  In view of this, in 
January 2008 the Cabinet Member for Sustainable Development 
resolved to defer making a decision on revision of the Minerals and 
Waste Development Scheme until the implications of the Government’s 
proposed changes to the local development framework system were 
clear; and that in the meantime further formal stages of preparation of 
the Minerals and Waste Development Framework be deferred and 
technical work be continued.  

3.1.4 In June 2008 the Government published revised Regulations on local 
development frameworks and Planning Policy Statement 12 ‘Local 
Spatial Planning’.  In the light of this, in November 2008 the Cabinet 
Member for Sustainable Development agreed to a revised Minerals and 
Waste Development Scheme being prepared for submission to the 
Secretary of State.  A further revision of the Development Scheme 
(2009 – 2012) was drafted and submitted to the Government Office for 
the South East (GOSE) in May 2009 for comment, but has been used 
by the County Council as an informal programme for the MWDF.   

 
3.1.5 This draft Development Scheme (May 2009) lists the following 

documents proposed to be prepared over the period 2007 to 2012: 
• Statement of Community Involvement; 
• Minerals and Waste Core Strategy; 
• Proposals Map. 

 It also lists the following as possible documents to be prepared: 
• Minerals Detailed Site Allocations (development plan document); 
• Waste Detailed Site Allocations (development plan document); 

Page 46



CMDGI5 
 

 

• Minerals and Waste Development Code of Practice 
(supplementary planning document); 

• Restoration and After-use of Minerals and Waste Sites 
(supplementary planning document). 

 But it states that decisions on the need for these other possible 
documents will be made when preparation of the Core Strategy is 
further advanced and that timetables for preparation of these 
documents will be drawn up if and when it is decided they are needed. 
The programme from this draft Scheme is at Appendix 1. 

 
3.1.6 The informal programme in the draft May 2009 Development Scheme 

has been updated and a revised timetable was agreed by the County 
Council’s Cabinet on 19 October 2010, as follows:   

May 2009 Consultation on scope of Sustainability 
Appraisal; 

to July 2011 Generation of and consultation on Minerals and 
Waste Strategy Options and Preferred 
Strategies; 

December 2011 Publish Proposed Submission Document for 
representations; 

February 2012 Submit Core Strategy to Secretary of State; 
May 2012 Independent Examination hearings; 
November 2012 Adopt Minerals and Waste Core Strategy. 

 
3.1.7 This is being used as the current programme for the MWDF and this 

AMR reports on progress against this. 
 
3.1.8 PPS12 ‘Local Spatial Planning’, 2008 (page 21) sets milestones in the 

process of preparing development plan documents.  The current 
programme for the MWDF includes the following target dates for the 
milestone stages for the Minerals and Waste Core Strategy: 

• Consult statutory bodies on scope of the Sustainability Appraisal 
– May 2009; 

• Publish Draft Submission Document – December 2011; 
• Submit Minerals and Waste Core Strategy to the Secretary of 

State – February 2012; 
• Adopt Minerals and Waste Core Strategy – November 2012. 

 
3.2 Preparation of Minerals and Waste Development Documents 
 
 Work in previous years 
 
3.2.1 The Oxfordshire Statement of Community Involvement was the first 

document to be prepared, and was adopted by the County Council on 
7th November 2006.  Since then there have been changes in 
government policy on local development frameworks and the 
procedures for preparing documents, and in the County Council’s 
policies and procedures on consultation.  This has signalled a need to 
consider whether the Statement of Community Involvement should be 
reviewed and updated.  It is expected that the Coalition Government 

Page 47



CMDGI5 
 

 

will make further changes to policy and procedures on plan making.  A 
decision on the need to review the Statement of Community 
Involvement will be made when the position is clearer. 

 
3.2.2 Following consultation on issues and options in June 2006, the 

Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Preferred Options Consultation 
Paper was published in February 2007.  This set out strategic aims and 
objectives for minerals and waste planning and preferred options for 
addressing key issues, and an outline of initial proposals and policies.  
A report summarising the responses to this consultation is on the 
County Council website.   

 
3.2.3 In their response, the Government Office for the South East (GOSE) 

advised that the preferred options do not give sufficient spatial direction 
on what minerals and waste developments will take place where and 
consequently that the Core Strategy was at risk of being found 
'unsound' when independently examined.  GOSE advised us to revise 
the preferred options and repeat this consultation stage.   

 
3.2.4 In August 2005 a general invitation was issued for potential sites for 

minerals and waste development to be nominated for consideration 
and assessment for possible inclusion in the MWDF.  This invitation 
was repeated 2007.  Work on identifying potential site options has 
continued, but the focus in 2009 – 2010 has been on using the site 
options to test the deliverability of spatial strategy options. 

 
3.2.5 Issues and Options Consultation Papers for the proposed Waste and 

Minerals Sites Proposals and Policies Documents were published in 
February and April 2007 respectively.  These contained long lists of 
possible areas and sites for waste management facilities and for 
mineral working and other development.  Reports summarising the 
responses to these consultations are on the County Council website. 

 
3.2.6 Also in 2007, the County Council engaged consultants ERM to carry 

out an initial technical assessment of possible site options for strategic 
waste management facilities.  This work identified 8 sites that ERM 
consider may be suitable for a strategic waste management facility.  
The three technical reports by ERM are available on the County 
Council website, but they have not yet been formally considered by the 
County Council in the preparation of the MWDF.  They will be used to 
inform preparation of the Core Strategy and Waste Sites Document.   

 
 Work in 2009 – 2010 
 
 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
3.2.7 The MWDF Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic 

Environmental Assessment) Scoping Report was revised in spring 
2009 to take into account updated government guidance and 
comments received on the previous version.  In May 2009, statutory 

Page 48



CMDGI5 
 

 

consultees – Natural England, English Heritage and the Environment 
Agency – and other stakeholders, including district councils and 
neighbouring mineral/waste planning authorities, were consulted on the 
revised Scoping Report.  The milestone for consultation on the scope 
of the sustainability appraisal was therefore met. 

 
3.2.8 The responses to this consultation have been incorporated into the 

Scoping Report, which was published on the County Council website in 
July 2009.  A summary of the consultation responses has also been 
placed on the website.  The Scoping Report, in particular the 
sustainability objectives, has been used in the assessment of minerals 
strategy options during 2010; and it will be used as the basis for future 
assessments of strategy options and policies for the Core Strategy. 

 
3.2.9 During 2009 and 2010, support and advice has been received from the 

Planning Advisory Service, Planning Officers Society and GOSE, which 
has provided greater clarity on what is required for the Core Strategy.  
This has helped significant progress to be made on preparation of the 
Core Strategy.   

 
 Minerals Strategy 
 
3.2.10 The vision and objectives for minerals and waste have been reviewed, 

and mineral spatial strategy options for sand and gravel, soft sand and 
crushed rock have been generated, consulted on and assessed.   

 
3.2.11 Draft minerals strategy options were generated and key stakeholders 

were consulted on these in February – March 2010.  Six workshops 
were held for County and District Councillors, parish councils, 
environmental groups and mineral operators to discuss the draft 
options.  A report from these workshops is on the County Council 
website. 

 
3.2.12 The output from this initial round of consultation was used to revise the 

options for further consultation during July 2010.  Two area based 
workshops were held, a report from which is on the County Council 
website, and a workshop was held with mineral operators.   

 
3.2.13 An assessment of the options has been carried out and was reported to 

the County Council’s Cabinet on 19 October 2010.  The Cabinet 
agreed an interim preferred strategy approach for mineral working in 
the short to medium term.  This is to concentrate sand and gravel 
working in existing areas of working – Lower Windrush Valley, 
Eynsham / Cassington / Yarnton, Radley, Sutton Courtenay and 
Caversham – subject to the ability of these areas to provide for the 
medium to longer term being re-assessed when the requirement for 
sand and gravel supply has been established and consideration being 
given to new areas of working if the re-assessment indicates this is 
necessary.  For soft sand and crushed rock, the approach is also 
based on existing areas of working: soft sand – south east of 

Page 49



CMDGI5 
 

 

Faringdon, Tubney / March / Hinton Waldrist, and Duns Tew; crushed 
rock – north of Bicester to the east of the River Cherwell, south of the 
A40 near Burford, and south east of Faringdon. 

 
3.2.14 Consultants have been appointed (November 2010) to produce a 

robust, locally derived assessment of aggregates supply requirements 
for Oxfordshire.  This will take into account the contribution to the need 
for construction materials that could be made by recycled materials and 
minerals from other sources.  The project brief is on the County Council 
website.  This work is due to be completed by Christmas 2010, so that 
it can be used to test the interim preferred strategy approach for 
deliverability.  Public consultation on a preferred minerals strategy is 
programmed for spring 2011. 

 
 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
 
3.2.15 A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (for all types of development) 

covering the Cherwell and West Oxfordshire District areas, carried out 
by consultants jointly for the two District Councils and the County 
Council, was published in April 2009.  A Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (for minerals and waste development) covering the Oxford 
City and Vale of White Horse and South Oxfordshire District areas has 
now been undertaken by the same consultants, drawing on data from 
assessments that have already been carried out for those areas for the 
City and District Councils.  This was finalised in November 2010 and 
the complete (minerals and waste) Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
for the whole of Oxfordshire is on the County Council website. 

 
 Waste Strategy 
 
3.2.16 Work has also been progressed in 2009 and 2010 on improving data 

on waste for the evidence base.  Site profiles are being created for all 
existing waste management facilities, in particular to establish an 
accurate picture of existing waste management capacity.  

 
3.2.17 In January 2008 an assessment of the capacity of existing waste 

management infrastructure in Oxfordshire and the need for new waste 
management facilities for the period to 2026 was prepared for the 
County Council by consultants ERM.  An updated waste needs 
assessment is being prepared.  An Interim Waste Needs Assessment 
position statement on municipal and commercial / industrial waste was 
produced in June 2010.  Both of these reports are on the County 
Council website. 

 
3.2.18 The development of a spatial strategy for waste has been held up 

pending a decision on a proposed energy-from-waste incinerator at 
Ardley (see paragraph 2.4.8).  This is because this would be a large 
(300,000 tonnes a year) waste treatment facility that would handle all of 
Oxfordshire’s residual municipal waste (waste that cannot be recycled 

Page 50



CMDGI5 
 

 

or composted) and much of the residual commercial and industrial 
waste, and it would therefore be a central element in any strategy.   

 
3.2.19 Options for a strategy for where other waste management facilities that 

will be required in Oxfordshire should be located will now be drawn up 
and assessed.  Consultation on a preferred strategy will be carried out 
in 2011.  This work will include consultation on an updated waste 
needs assessment.  A timetable for this work and consultation will be 
finalised early in 2011. 

 

Page 51



CMDGI5 
 

 

4 Monitoring Achievement of Policies and Indicators 

4.1 Production of Primary Land-Won Aggregates 
 (Core Output Indicator M1; Indicator 79) 

4.1.1 The most recent period for which figures for production of primary land-
won aggregates in Oxfordshire are available is the calendar year 2009.  
Production of sand and gravel (split into soft sand and sharp sand and 
gravel) and crushed rock (limestone and ironstone combined) in 2009 
is set out in Table 1 below, with figures for the previous five years, from 
2004, for comparison.  Figure 1 shows how aggregates production in 
Oxfordshire has changed over the 10 years 1999 - 2009. 

 
Table 1:  Production of Primary Aggregates in 2009 and previous 5 years 
Aggregate Type Annual Production (January – December) in thousand 

tonnes 
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Soft Sand 295 199 183 166 151 165 

Sharp Sand and 
Gravel 1,184 1,090 983 893 629 462 

Total Sand and 
Gravel 1,480 1,289 1,166 1,059 780 627 
Crushed Rock 557 564 495 717 543 433 

Total Primary 
Aggregates 2,036 1,853 1,661 1,776 1,323 1,060 
(Source: SEERA Aggregates Monitoring Reports 2004 – 2008, OCC 2009) 
 
Figure 1:  Aggregate Production in Oxfordshire over the last 10 years 

Aggregate Production in Oxfordshire (1999-2009)

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

Year

T
o
n
n
es
 (
th
o
u
sa
n
d
s)

Soft Sand 

Sharp Sand and Gravel

Crushed Rock 

Total Primary Aggregates 

 
(Source: SEERA Aggregates Monitoring Reports 1999 – 2008, OCC 2009) 
 

Page 52



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.1.2 Production of all aggregate minerals has generally decreased over the 
past eight years.  Production levels in 2009 were significantly lower 
than the sub-regional apportionments for Oxfordshire in the South East 
Plan (May 2009): sand and gravel production was only 34.4% of the 
apportionment level of 1.82 million tonnes per annum;  crushed rock 
production was only 43% of the apportionment level of 1.0 million 
tonnes per annum (see paragraph 4.3.2 below).  A map of active 
aggregate quarries in Oxfordshire is at Appendix 4 

 

 Distribution of Primary Land-Won Aggregates 
 
4.1.3 Table 2 shows where the aggregates extracted in Oxfordshire in 2009 

were used.  Most sand and gravel was used locally, within Oxfordshire.  
Relatively small quantities were exported to adjoining counties, in 
particular Gloucestershire and Wiltshire, and very little going further 
afield. 

 
4.1.4 Approximately half of the crushed rock worked in Oxfordshire was used 

in the county.  The main export counties were Northamptonshire and 
Warwickshire, with lesser quantities going to other adjoining counties 
and very little going further afield.   

 
Table 1a:  Destinations Aggregates Produced in Oxfordshire 2009 
 
 Sand and Gravel 

(including soft sand) 
Crushed Rock 

Destination Tonnes % Tonnes % 
Oxfordshire 487,260 77.6 180,867 49.8 
Berkshire 20,785 3.3  

23,081 
 

6.4 Buckinghamshire 
& Milton Keynes 

13,663 2.2 

Rest of South 
East & London 

15,565 2.5 0 0 

Wiltshire & 
Gloucestershire 

68,203 10.9 29,694 8.2 

Northamptonshire 
& Warwickshire 

4,993 0.8 118,788 32.7 

Elsewhere 17,188 2.7 10,409 2.9 
Total 627,783 100 362,839 100 
 

4.2 Permissions Granted for Working of Primary Aggregates 

4.2.1 Permissions granted for extraction of aggregate minerals in Oxfordshire 
in the calendar year 2009 are listed in Table 2 below, with the tonnages 
of new mineral permitted. 

 

Page 53



CMDGI5 
 

 

Table 2:  New Aggregate Extraction Permissions Granted in 2009 
 
Date 
Permitted 

Site Name Mineral Type Tonnes 
Permitted 

26/01/2009 Sutton Wick Quarry (extension of 
time for working previously 
permitted area) 

Sharp Sand 
and Gravel 

110,000 

03/04/2009 Shipton on Cherwell Quarry Crushed rock 
(limestone) 

450,000 

(Source: Oxfordshire County Council – information from planning applications 
and decisions) 
 
4.2.2 The total tonnages of each aggregate type permitted in the calendar 

year 2009 are shown in Table 3 below. 
 
Table 3:  Aggregates Extraction Permitted in 2009 
 
Aggregate Type Tonnage Permitted 
Soft sand 
Sharp sand and gravel 

Nil 
110,000 

Total Sand and Gravel 110,000 
Crushed Rock 450,000 
Total All Aggregates 560,000 
(Source: Oxfordshire County Council – information from planning applications 
and decisions) 
 
4.2.3 A further permission was granted in January 2010 for 1.4 million tonnes 

of soft sand at Upwood Park, Besselsleigh.  In June 2010 permission 
was granted for 124,000 tonnes of ironstone at Great Tew Quarry, and 
in October 2010 permission was granted on appeal for the extraction of 
1.55 million tonnes of sharp sand and gravel at Stonehenge Farm, 
Northmoor. 

 
 
4.3 Landbank of Permitted Reserves of Aggregates 
 (Indicator 82) 
 
4.3.1 The landbank of permitted reserves of aggregates, in years, is 

calculated by dividing the total of reserves at sites with planning 
permission for extraction by the annual level of provision in the 
Development Plan.  Unless otherwise justified in the Plan, the annual 
level of provision is the agreed sub-regional apportionment of the 
Government’s Guidelines for Aggregates Provision, which at 31 
December 2009 was 1.82 mtpa for sand and gravel and 1.0 mtpa 
crushed rock (from South East Plan Policy M3).  As noted in paragraph 
2.4.4, the County Council has commissioned consultants to undertake 
a local assessment of aggregates supply requirements for Oxfordshire.  
This may result in alternative figures being used in the MWDF. 

 

Page 54



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.3.2 The MWDF will subdivide the sand and gravel apportionment to give 
separate apportionment figures for soft and sharp sand and gravel.  In 
the interim, the 1.82 mtpa apportionment is subdivided in proportion to 
average production of soft sand and sharp sand & gravel over the last 
3 years.  Over the period 2007 to 2009, the average split was 20% soft 
sand and 80% sharp sand and gravel, giving an interim apportionment 
subdivision of 0. 36 mtpa for soft sand and 1.46 mtpa for sharp sand 
and gravel.  This is used in Table 4 below. 

 
4.3.3 The permitted reserves and landbank of aggregates at the end of 2009, 

the most recent survey year, are set out in Table 4. 
 
Table 4: Permitted Reserves of Aggregates (million tonnes) and 

Landbank at end of 2009 
Aggregate 
Type 

A 
Permitted 

Reserves at end 
2009 
 

B 
Apportionment and 
interim sand and 
gravel subdivision 

C 
Landbank in years 

at end 2009 
(A/B) 

Soft 
Sand 1.127 0.36 (20%) 3.1 

Sharp Sand 
& Gravel 7.928 1.46 (80%) 5.4 

Total Sand & 
Gravel 9.055 1.82 (100%) 4.9 

Crushed 
Rock 13.102 1.0 13.1 

(Source: Oxfordshire County Council – information from planning applications 
and decisions and Aggregate Monitoring Survey 2009). 
 
4.3.4 As noted in paragraph 4.2.3, further planning permissions have been 

granted since the end of 2009 for 1.4 million tonnes of soft sand, 1.55 
million tonnes of sharp sand and gravel and 124,000 tonnes of crushed 
rock.  Dormant sites where working cannot recommence without a 
further permission (for new planning conditions) are excluded from 
permitted reserves.  This includes sharp sand and gravel, at Thrupp 
Farm, Radley and crushed rock (ironstone) at Shenington. 

 
4.3.5 Government policy in MPS1 is that mineral planning authorities should 

aim to maintain landbanks of at least 7 years extraction for sand and 
gravel and at least 10 years for crushed rock, unless exceptional 
circumstances prevail.  Table 4 shows the position at the end of 2009 
was that for both soft sand and sharp sand and gravel the landbank 
was significantly below the 7 year level; but that for crushed rock the 
landbank was well above the required minimum level.  This is 
illustrated in Figure 2.  The new permission at Upwood Park increases 
the soft sand landbank to 7 years, and the new permission at 
Stonehenge Farm increases the sharp sand and gravel landbank to 6.5 
years at the end of 2009. 

 

Page 55



CMDGI5 
 

 

Figure 2: Landbanks at 31 December 2009 and Minimum Required 
Levels 

 

Landbanks

0
2
4
6
8
10
12
14

La
nd
ba
nk

Sa
nd
 an
d g
ra
ve
l

La
nd
ba
nk

Cr
us
he
d 
ro
ck

N
o
 o
f 
ye
ar
s

Legend

Minimum 
landbank 
required

Landbank in 
years at end 
2009

 
(Source: as Table 4) 
 
 
 Rates of extraction relative to the landbank of permitted reserves 
 
4.3.6 Table 5 below illustrates that reserves, sales and landbank for sand 

and gravel in Oxfordshire have progressively declined over the past 9 
years.  Reserves and the landbank reached their lowest level in 2007 
whilst production fell quite markedly in 2008 and 2009. 

 
Table 5 to be inserted 
 

Page 56



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.4 Provision of Sites for Mineral Working in Development Plan 
 
4.4.1 The Oxfordshire Structure Plan 2011 identified in Policy M2 the 

following areas where the principle of new sand and gravel workings is 
accepted: 

a) the Sutton Courtenay area; 
b) the Sutton Wick area; 
c) the Stanton Harcourt (Lower Windrush Valley) area; 
d) the Eynsham – Cassington – Yarnton area. 

 These areas were not included in the Oxfordshire Structure Plan 2016, 
adopted on 21 October 2005.  Instead, saved Policy M2 says locations 
for sand and gravel working will be identified in the Minerals and Waste 
Development Framework, and sets out factors to be taken into account 
in identifying appropriate locations. 

 
4.4.2 The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (1996) identified areas 

for sand and gravel working to meet the expected requirement over the 
period to 2006 plus a contingency allowance of 6.6 million tonnes.  Of 
the areas identified for future working in policies in the Plan, only 
approximately 1 million tonnes of sand and gravel resource remains 
without planning permission, within small areas at Sutton Wick (Policy 
SW1), Cassington – Yarnton (Policy CY1) and in the Lower Windrush 
Valley (Policy SH1).  These policies are included in those that have 
been ‘saved’ (see paragraph 2.4.6). 

 
4.4.3 Figure 4 in the Minerals and Waste Local Plan set out the ‘breakdown 

of identified sand and gravel resource’.  In addition to the sites 
identified in plan policies, this included land already with planning 
permission for mineral working and ‘land with planning permission in 
principle awaiting completion of legal agreements’.  This included 
Stonehenge Farm, a site in the Lower Windrush Valley, with the 
following footnote: ‘Although the County Council has resolved to grant 
planning permission for the extraction of 4 million tonnes of gravel at 
Stonehenge Farm, approximately half the site is a Scheduled Ancient 
Monument.  Some 2 million tonnes from this land cannot therefore be 
dug unless Scheduled Ancient Monument consent is first granted by 
English Heritage.’  Stonehenge Farm is shown on the Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan Proposals Map as ‘area resolved to be permitted 
subject to agreement’, but it is not identified in policy in the Plan. 

 
4.4.4 The planning application for Stonehenge Farm was subsequently 

withdrawn.  A subsequent planning application for extraction of 1.55 
million tonnes of sand and gravel at Stonehenge Farm was refused 
permission by the County Council in January 2009.  As noted in 
paragraph 4.2.3, this decision was appealed and the appeal was 
allowed on 8 October 2010. 

 
4.4.5 The remaining site provision for sand and gravel working in policies in 

the Minerals and Waste Local Plan therefore totals approximately 2.55 
million tonnes, entirely comprising sharp sand and gravel.  No new 

Page 57



CMDGI5 
 

 

areas were identified in the Plan for working of soft sand, nor for 
limestone or ironstone.  Together with the reserves remaining at 
existing permitted sites at the end of 2009 (Table 4, column A) and 
taking into account permissions granted since the end of 2009 
(paragraphs 4.2.3), this would theoretically provide for continued 
production of aggregates in Oxfordshire, at the apportionment levels in 
Table 4, for the following periods: 

a) Soft Sand to end 2016; 
b) Sharp Sand and Gravel to early 2017; 
c) Limestone and Ironstone to early 2023. 

 

4.5 Production of Secondary and Recycled Aggregates and Capacity 
of Facilities 

 (Core Output Indicator M2; Indicator 80) 
 
4.5.1 There is no reliable and comprehensive data on production and use of 

secondary and recycled aggregates available for Oxfordshire.  The 
survey of production of aggregate minerals in 2009 resulted in only a 
partial response from secondary and recycled aggregates site 
operators.  This survey recorded production of secondary and recycled 
aggregates in Oxfordshire in 2009 totalling 286,000 tonnes (including 
recycled construction and demolition waste, power station ash, and 
road construction materials).  This is believed to be significantly less 
than the total actual production of secondary and recycled aggregates.  
The same survey in 2008 recorded total production of 503,000 tonnes, 
again from a partial response.  There is insufficient information to report 
on Indicator 81: amount of recycled construction, demolition and 
mineral waste used and as a proportion of South East production and 
consumption. 

 
4.5.2 Policy M2 of the South East Plan (2009) states that use of secondary 

aggregates and recycled materials in the South East should increase 
from 6.6mtpa to at least 7.7mtpa (34%) by 2016, to reduce the need for 
primary aggregate extraction.  Policy M2 includes a sub-regional 
apportionment of the provision required to meet the 2016 target figure, 
with an apportionment for Oxfordshire of 0.9 million tonnes per annum.  
The local assessment of aggregates supply requirements for 
Oxfordshire, which the County Council has commissioned consultants 
to undertake, will include secondary and recycled aggregates and may 
result in an alternative figure being used in the MWDF. 

 
4.5.3 A recent (2010) review of the capacity of permitted facilities for the 

production of secondary and recycled aggregates indicates a total 
capacity for the production of recycled aggregates in Oxfordshire of 
1,121,500 tonnes per annum.  This includes construction and 
demolition waste recycling and production of aggregates from power 
station ash, but it does not include in-situ recycling at construction and 
demolition and roadworks sites.  This capacity total is higher than the 
Oxfordshire South East Plan apportionment of 0.9 million tonnes per 

Page 58



CMDGI5 
 

 

annum for 2016.  But much of this current capacity is at temporary 
facilities, in many cases with planning permissions that end before 
2016. 

 
4.6 Number and Capacity of Rail Depot Facilities. 
 (Indicator 83)   
 
4.6.1 There are 3 railhead aggregates depots in Oxfordshire at Banbury, 

Kidlington and Sutton Courtenay and these are safeguarded in the 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  (That plan records 2 depots at 
Banbury, but they have since been amalgamated).  These import 
crushed rock aggregates from the South West and East Midlands.  
Capacity figures are not available for these depots.  There is planning 
permission for a further railhead aggregate depot at Shipton on 
Cherwell.  There is also a rail depot at Hinksey Sidings, Oxford but that 
only handles rail ballast for the rail network (with all movements both in 
and out by rail) and does not supply the general aggregates market. 

 

Page 59



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.7 Arisings and Management of Waste  
(Core Output Indicator W2 & Indicators 71a and 71b) 

 
4.7.1 There are a number of policy documents containing waste targets.  

Appendix 2 summarises the most relevant targets which the Minerals 
and Waste Development Framework needs to take into account in 
providing for waste management in Oxfordshire.  The national and 
regional targets are not directly comparable; they address waste issues 
differently.  In particular, whilst national targets focus on municipal and 
household wastes, regional targets cover all the main waste streams. 

 
4.7.2 Apart from municipal waste, reliable figures are not available for 

arisings of waste in Oxfordshire.  The most recent figures for waste 
managed in Oxfordshire are set out in Tables 6, 7 and 8 below, for 
construction, demolition and excavation waste, commercial and 
industrial waste and municipal waste respectively.  The tables set out 
the total tonnage of each type of waste, showing the amounts 
landfilled, recycled or composted, recovered and treated.   

 
4.7.3 Of the total of approximately 2.2 million tonnes of waste managed in 

Oxfordshire each year, 58% is construction and demolition waste, 28% 
is commercial and industrial waste and 14% is municipal waste (see 
Figure 3).   

 
 

Figure 3:  Total Waste Managed in Oxfordshire by Waste Type 
 

% of total waste managed by management type

58%
28%

14%

Construction & Demolition

Commercial & Industrial

Municipal Total

              
 

Page 60



CMDGI5 
 

 

Table 6: Annual Management of Construction, Demolition & Excavation 
Waste in Oxfordshire (tonnes) 

 
Waste Type 

Total Waste 
Managed 

 
Landfilled 

Recycled or 
Composted 

 
Recovered 

Other 
Treatment 

Construction 
& Demolition 1,300,000 533,0001 377,0001 390,0001 - 

1 Based on proportion of C & D waste recycled (29%) and recovered (30%) in Berkshire, 
Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire from Capita Symonds Study (DCLG) for 2005.   
 
 
4.7.4 The total of 1,300,000 tonnes per annum for construction, demolition 

and excavation (CDE) waste represents the amount that is managed in 
Oxfordshire.  This figure differs from the figure of 886,908 tonnes in the 
AMR 2009 because that was based on waste managed at licensed 
facilities only, from Environment Agency data.  The 2009 figure does 
not include waste handled at facilities that operate under a registered 
waste exemption, for which data is not collected. 

 
4.7.5 A study undertaken in 2005 by Capita Symonds for DCLG concluded 

that CDE waste arisings in Buckinghamshire, Berkshire and 
Oxfordshire amounted to some 4.2 million tonnes per annum, including 
waste managed at exempt sites.  In their assessment of waste needs in 
Oxfordshire (January 2008), consultants ERM estimated the amount of 
CDE waste arising in Oxfordshire in 2005 as 1.44 million tonnes.  This 
was based on the Capita Symonds estimate for Buckinghamshire, 
Berkshire and Oxfordshire, apportioned by relative county population 
size.  Capita Symonds warned against attempting to produce county 
level estimates from their data, as their study was based on a low level 
of survey returns (on some questions no more than 20%).  
Nevertheless, the estimate is likely to be more realistic than the 
Environment Agency figure used previously. The Capita Symonds 
study found that of the waste surveyed, some 30% was managed on 
exempt sites.  This suggests that the Environment Agency figure of 
886,908 tonnes represents about 70% of the total CDE waste managed 
in Oxfordshire, in which case the total waste managed would have 
been in the order of 1.3 million tonnes a year.  

 
4.7.6 There is uncertainty over the figure of 1.3 million tonnes, both due to 

the way it is derived and because it pre-dates the downturn in the 
economy.  Nevertheless, this is thought to be the best estimate 
currently available. 

 
4.7.7 Most CDE waste is landfilled (41%) or recovered (30%) (mainly for use 

in restoration of mineral workings and landfills, land improvement and 
engineering works), with about 29% being recycled (see Figure 4).   

 
 

Page 61



CMDGI5 
 

 

Figure 4:  Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 
Managed in Oxfordshire by Management Type 

 

% of total C&D waste managed by management 
type

47%

32%

0%

21%

Landf il led

Recycled or Compost ed

Recovered 

Ot her Treatment

 
 
 
Table 7: Annual Management of Commercial & Industrial Waste in 
Oxfordshire (tonnes) 
 

 
Waste Type 

Total Waste 
Managed 

 
Landfilled 

Recycled or 
Composted 

 
Recovered 

Other 
Treatment 

Commercial & 
Industrial 630,000 296,000 202,000 - 132,000 

 
 
4.7.8 The total amount of commercial and industrial (C&I) waste arising is 

taken from the South East Plan (2009).  This figure is significantly lower 
than that previously reported by the Environment Agency (901,000 
tonnes).  But an improved understanding of C&I waste has been 
obtained through work on preparation and monitoring of the South East 
Plan, and this is believed to be a better reflection of the actual position.  
The amounts of commercial and industrial waste recycled/composted, 
landfilled or treated have been calculated from the proportions of this 
waste managed in that way for 2008-09; landfilled (47%), recycled or 
composted (32%), treated (21%).   

 
4.7.9 The previous estimate of C&I waste managed in Oxfordshire of 

901,000 tonnes was produced by the Environment Agency as part of a 
national survey in 2002-03.  The results of the survey were used by 
consultants ERM in work for the South East Plan.  Later surveys of C&I 
waste have been undertaken for the North West and East of England 
regions, but it is difficult to draw conclusions from those studies that 
would directly assist assessment of the amount of C&I waste managed 
in Oxfordshire.  A more accurate estimate of the C&I waste produced in 
Oxfordshire could probably be obtained by specific survey, but this 
would be costly and time consuming.  Further work on C&I waste at a 

Page 62



CMDGI5 
 

 

national level is being undertaken by Defra, and this may produce 
survey results at a regional level before the end of 2010.  But it is 
uncertain how useful these results will be for assessing waste 
managed in Oxfordshire.  In the meantime, in the absence of any other 
better data, the South East Plan figure is thought to be the best figure 
available.    

 
4.7.10 About 32% of commercial and industrial waste is recycled, with 47% 

being disposed to landfill and a further 21% being treated in some other 
way (see Figure 5).   

 
 

Figure 5:  Commercial and Industrial Waste Managed in 
Oxfordshire by Management Type 

 

% of total C&I waste managed by management type

47%

32%

0%

21%
Landfilled

Recycled or
Composted

Recovered 

Other Treatment

 
 
 
Table 8: Management of Municipal Waste in Oxfordshire 2009 / 2010 
(tonnes) 
 

 
Waste Type 

Total Waste 
Managed 

 
Landfilled 

Recycled or 
Composted 

 
Recovered 

Other 
Treatment 

Municipal 
Solid Waste* 302,035 158,199 141,140 - 2,696 

Data is for the year 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010. 
 
 
4.7.11 Data for municipal waste is from the County Council’s Waste 

Management Group and is reliable.  This data is for the total amount of 
municipal solid waste that is collected by local authorities in 
Oxfordshire.  This is mainly household waste but includes some 
business waste and other non-household waste.  It does not include 
municipal waste from outside Oxfordshire which is managed at facilities 
in the county. 

 

Page 63



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.7.12 Details of the amount of municipal waste arising in Oxfordshire in the 
year 2009/10 and the amounts and percentages managed by each 
management type are set out in Table 9 and Figure 6 below (Core 
Output Indicator W2, Indicator 71a). 

 
 
Table 9: Municipal Waste Arising and Managed by Management 
Type 1 April 2009 – 31 March 2010 (tonnes) 
 Waste Management Type 

 Landfill Recycled * 
(excluding 
green waste 
composted) 

Composting 
of Green 
Waste * 

Thermal 
Treatment 

Total  

Household 144,816 81,361 58,891 2,696** 287,764 
Non-Household 13,383 888 - - 14,271 
Total Municipal 
Waste 

158,199 82,249 58,891 2,696** 302,035 

Percentage  52.38% 27.23% 19.50% 0.89% 100% 
* includes waste collected by waste collection authorities and at waste 
recycling centres 
** domestic hazardous chemical and clinical wastes sent for specialist thermal 
treatment outside Oxfordshire 
(Source: Oxfordshire County Council, Waste Management Group) 
 
 
Figure 6: Percentage of Municipal Waste by Management Type. 
 

Percentage of Municipal Waste going to Management Type  
(1st April 2009 - 31st March 2010)

27.23%

19.5%

0.89%

52.38%

Landfill

Recycled * (excluding green
waste composted)

Composting of Green Waste *

Thermal Treatment

 
(Source: Oxfordshire County Council, Waste Management Group) 
 
 

Page 64



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.7.13 Of the 302,035 tonnes of municipal waste produced in Oxfordshire in 
2009/10, 47% was diverted from landfill by recycling (27%) and  
composting (20%), with 52% being disposed, almost all by landfill.  For 
household waste only, the rate of recycling or composting in 2009/10 
was 48.7%, an increase of 5.2% from 2008/09 and exceeding the 45% 
Local Area Agreement target for March 2011.  

 
4.7.14 The data for municipal waste is accurate and up to date but there 

continue to be uncertainties about the accuracy of data for C&I and 
CDE wastes.  This prevents meaningful reporting against Indicator 70 
(waste generation and growth rates of major waste streams).  Liaison 
with the Environment Agency is ongoing to improve the availability and 
reliability of data.  But data on waste imported into Oxfordshire for 
management and disposal continues to be poor. 

 
4.7.15 The County Council is collecting better information on waste 

movements into and out of the county, but does not yet have adequate 
data for meaningful reporting against Indicator 72 (waste movements).  
Liaison with the Environment Agency and other waste planning 
authorities is ongoing to improve the availability and reliability of data. 

 
 

4.8 Capacity of New and Improved Waste Management Facilities 
 (Core Output Indicator W1, Indicator 73) 
 
4.8.1 Permissions granted for new, improved or amended waste 

management facilities in Oxfordshire over the period 1 April 2009 to 31 
March 2010 are listed in Table 10 below, showing facility and waste 
type, with the new or increased waste management capacity permitted. 

 
4.8.2 Permissions for additional waste management capacity were granted in 

the year 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 totalling: 2.8 million tonnes 
(mainly inert) landfill; 234,000 tonnes per annum recycling; and 55,000 
tonnes per annum composting.  This included the following significant 
development proposals: 

Ø 1.8 million cubic metres of inert landfill capacity (Shipton on 
Cherwell); 

Ø 150,000 tonnes/year of permanent capacity for recycling of 
commercial & industrial waste (Gosford Silos); 

Ø  49,000 tonnes/year of permanent capacity for in-vessel 
composting (Worton Farm). 

 
 
 

Page 65



CMDGI5 
 

 

Table 10: Planning Permissions for Waste Facilities (Additional Capacity) 1 April 2009 – 31 March 2010  
 

Location Type of Facility Waste Type Additional Capacity End Date 
Worton Farm, Cassington Composting  Green Waste  Increase from 20,000 to 

25,000 tonnes/year 
Permanent   

Shipton on Cherwell Quarry Inert Landfill  CDE Waste  1.8 million cubic metres (2.7 
million tonnes) 

2033 

Finmere Quarry  Non-Hazardous Landfill  Non- Hazardous Waste  Increase of 112,000 cubic 
metres 

2020 

Worton Farm, Cassington  In-Vessel Composting Green Waste  49,000 tonnes/year  Permanent  
Upwood Park, Besselsleigh CDE Recycling & 

Transfer  
C&D Waste  70,000 tonnes/year  2030 

Gosford Silos, Kidlington C&I Recycling & 
Transfer  

Household and C&I  150,000 tonnes/year 
Household and C&I  
Up to 150 tonnes/year 
Hazardous& WEEE 

Permanent  

Burford Quarry  CDE Recycling  CDE Waste  500 tonnes/year  2024 
Showell Farm, Chipping 
Norton  

Composting  Green Waste  Increase from 10,000 to 
15,000 tonnes/year 

2017 

Elmwood Farm, Black 
Bourton  

C&I Recycling  Wood 1,400 tonnes/year  2015 

Worsham Quarry  C&I Recycling  C&I Waste  12,000 tonnes/year Permanent  
 
(Source: Oxfordshire County Council – information from planning applications and decisions) 
 

P
age 66



CMDGI5 
 

 

4.9 Total Capacity of Waste Management Facilities  
 
4.9.1 The County Council has carried out a review of waste management 

capacity in the County in 2010.  The results of the review are presented 
in Table 11 below.  The table reports on figures for facilities that are 
operational and proposed facilities which have planning permission but 
are not yet operational (‘committed’ facilities).  It provides a breakdown 
of total waste management capacity by waste management type.  
Figures were obtained using information from planning applications, 
Environment Agency licences and exemptions and waste data from 
2005, 2006 and 2008, and information obtained directly from site 
operators.  A map of permitted waste management facilities in 
Oxfordshire is at Appendix 4.   

 
 
Table 11: Capacity of Waste Management Facilities March 2010* 
Type of Facility Capacity 
Landfill 
Inert Landfill** 5,637,000 tonnes 
Non-Hazardous Landfill 15,113,000 tonnes 
Hazardous Landfill 0 tonnes 
Total  20,750,000 tonnes 
Recycling / Transfer & Composting*** 
MSW and C&I Recycling / Transfer 1,030,680 tonnes per annum 
C&D Recycling / Transfer 1,121,500 tonnes per annum 
MSW and C&I Composting 317,000 tonnes per annum 
Total 2,469,180 tonnes per annum 
Other  
MSW and C&I Incineration 0 tonnes per annum 
MSW and C&I Treatment  2,010 tonnes per annum 
Hazardous / Radioactive 203,344 tonnes per annum 
Vehicle Dismantling & Other Metal Recovery 133,198 tonnes per annum 
Total 338,552 tonnes per annum 

 
All Waste  23,557,732 tonnes per annum 

 
 
(Source:  Oxfordshire County Council, March 2010, and information from planning 
applications and decisions, 2010) 
* Capacity refers to operational and ‘committed’ (with planning permission but not necessarily 
operational) facilities.   
** All landfill capacity figures are shown as estimated remaining void space.   
*** Recycling / transfer figures assume 80% recycling / 20% transfer.   
 

4.10 Provision of Sites for Waste Management in Development Plan 

4.10.1 The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (1996) identifies only 
one site for waste management development.  This is land at Langford 
Lane, Kidlington, identified for a waste reception centre (waste 

Page 67



CMDGI5 
 

 

recycling centre) for household waste.  This land remains undeveloped.  
The policy for this site is one of those that have been ‘saved’ (see 
paragraph 2.4.6).  

4.10.2 The Plan otherwise relies on criteria policies to deliver waste recycling 
facilities.  It has no policies specifically for composting or other types of 
waste treatment facilities.  The Plan assessed there was no need for 
additional landfill provision over the period to 2006 and consequently 
did not identify any sites for landfill, apart from an area at Sutton Wick 
identified for sand and gravel extraction and to be restored by landfill. 
The policy for this site is also one of those that have been ‘saved’ (see 
paragraph 2.4.6). 

 
4.10.3 Policy W7 of the South East Plan (May, 2009) states the annual rates 

of municipal and commercial & industrial wastes to be managed in 
each sub-region (waste planning authority area) over the period 2008 
to 2025.  The figures for Oxfordshire are set out in Appendix 2 
(paragraph 3.1).  Policy W7 states that these provide benchmarks for 
the preparation of development plan documents and annual monitoring.  
They should be taken into account in establishing the provision for 
waste management that needs to be made in the Minerals and Waste 
Development Framework. 

 
 

Page 68



CMDGI5 
 

 

5  Conclusions and Key Issues to be Addressed 
 
5.1 The monitoring results reported in this AMR reveal the following main 

conclusions and key issues that need to be addressed in the 
preparation of the Minerals and Waste Development Framework. 

 
I. Production of aggregate minerals fell again in 2009, to: 627,000 

tonnes sand and gravel; and 433,000 tonnes crushed rock.  
These levels are substantially below the current apportionments 
for Oxfordshire: 1.82 million tonnes per annum sand and gravel; 
and 1.0 million tonnes per annum crushed rock (paragraph 
4.1.2).  An assessment of aggregates supply requirements for 
Oxfordshire is being carried out and this should produce locally 
derived alternative figures which can be used and tested in the 
preparation of the Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (paragraph 
3.2.14). 

 
II. 78% of sand and gravel and 50% of crushed rock produced in 

2009 was used in Oxfordshire; most of the remainder went to 
adjoining counties (paragraphs 4.1.3 & 4.1.4).  Crushed rock 
was brought in to three rail depots.  This is only a snap-shot 
picture for a single year.  A more comprehensive picture of 
movements of aggregates into and out of Oxfordshire needs to 
be built up as part of the assessment of aggregates 
requirements and preparation of the Core Strategy. 

 
III. The amount of sand and gravel permitted in 2009 was less than 

the amount produced, although two large permissions have 
since been granted.  At the end of 2009 the landbanks for both 
soft sand and sharp sand and gravel were significantly below the 
government guidance level of at least 7 years.  The subsequent 
permissions increased the landbanks to just 7 years for soft 
sand and 6.5 years for sharp sand and gravel (paragraph 4.3.6).  
The low landbank levels reflects, and may be partly due to, the 
lack of remaining provision for these minerals in the 
development plan (see paragraph VI below).  But preparation of 
the Core Strategy should take into account the output from the 
local assessment of aggregates supply requirements for 
Oxfordshire that is being carried out (paragraph 3.2.14). 

 
IV. Remaining provision for sand and gravel working in the Minerals 

and Waste Local Plan is at a very low level, amounting to only 
about 1.0 million tonnes of sharp sand and gravel.  Taking into 
account remaining permitted reserves, there is insufficient 
provision for the full period of the Core Strategy, and provision 
will need to be made in the MWDF to address this shortfall.  
Remaining permitted reserves of crushed rock are at a higher 
level and the current insufficiency of provision is much less 
(paragraph 4.4.5). 

 

Page 69



CMDGI5 
 

 

V. Data on production of secondary and recycled aggregates for 
2009 (286,000 tonnes) is incomplete and is believed to be 
significantly under-recorded (paragraph 4.5.1).  Secondary and 
recycled aggregates production capacity is approximately 1.1 
million tonnes per annum, more than the Oxfordshire 
apportionment of 0.9 million tonnes per annum, but much of this 
capacity is at temporary facilities (paragraph 4.5.3).  A more 
comprehensive picture of secondary and recycled aggregates 
supply needs to be built up as part of the assessment of 
aggregates requirements, which will produce a locally derived 
figure for the capacity required, and in the preparation of the 
Core Strategy. 

 
VI. Approximately 2.2 million tonnes of waste is generated in 

Oxfordshire each year, comprising: 58% construction and 
demolition waste; 28% commercial and industrial waste; and 
14% municipal waste (paragraph 4.7.3).  Commercial and 
industrial and construction and demolition wastes together form 
the great majority of the waste that the Core Strategy needs to 
make provision for. 

 
VII. In 2009/10, 47% of municipal waste was diverted from landfill by 

recycling and composting (paragraph 4.7.13).  Approximately 
40% of construction and demolition waste and 47% of 
commercial and industrial waste is landfilled (paragraphs 4.7.7 & 
4.7.10).  There is a need to complete the Core Strategy and 
prepare a waste site allocations document to provide the 
locations required for increased diversion of wastes from landfill 
through recycling, composting and resource recovery treatment. 

 
VIII. Data for municipal waste is accurate and up to date, but data for 

the other waste streams is less certain, and data on cross 
boundary movements of waste is incomplete.  Data on waste 
arisings and management needs to continue to be improved 
through an assessment of waste management needs for the 
Core Strategy, including through liaison with the Environment 
Agency and other authorities (paragraphs 3.2.19, 4.7.14 & 
4.7.15). 

 
IX. Permissions for additional waste management capacity were 

granted in 2009/10 totalling: 2.8 million tonnes (mainly inert) 
landfill; 234,000 tonnes per annum recycling; and 55,000 tonnes 
per annum composting (paragraph 4.8.2).  Current waste 
management capacity in Oxfordshire totals: 20,750,000 tonnes 
landfill; and 2.8 million tonnes per annum recycling, composting 
and other recovery treatment (much of which is in temporary 
permissions or is not yet operational) (paragraph 4.9.1). 

 
X. There remains a gap between waste management capacity 

available and what is likely to be needed over the period of the 

Page 70



CMDGI5 
 

 

Core Strategy.  Provision for waste management facilities in the 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan is very limited (paragraphs 
4.10.1 & 4.10.2).  Significant new capacity for waste treatment 
will be needed in order to meet targets for diversion of waste 
from landfill, including through recycling and composting, and 
the MWDF will need to make provision for this (paragraph 
4.10.3).  The assessment of waste management needs will 
establish the gap in provision that needs to be addressed in the 
Core Strategy (paragraph 3.2.19).  Preparation of the Core 
Strategy will need to take into account both procurement and 
planning decisions that are made on the provision of new 
treatment facilities for the county’s municipal waste (paragraph 
3.2.18). 

 
XI. The Statement of Community Involvement may need to be 

reviewed and updated to reflect changes in government policy 
and procedures on local development frameworks and changes 
in the County Council’s policies and procedures on consultation 
(paragraph 3.2.1). 

 
 

Page 71



CMDGI5 
 

 

Appendix 1 
 
Draft Schedule of Proposed Minerals and Waste Development Documents for Oxfordshire (May 2009) 
 

Document 
Title 
and Status 

Brief Description Chain of 
Conformity 

Commence 
Preparation 

Consult on 
scope of 
Sustainability 
Appraisal 
(milestone) 

Community Engagement 
& Consultation 
(Reg. 17 / 25 public 
participation) 

Draft 
Submission 
Document or 
SPD 
(milestone) 

Submit to 
Secretary 
of State 
(milestone) 

Independent 
Examination 

Adoption 
(milestone) 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement 
Non - 
Development 
Plan Document 

To set out the 
Council’s policy on 
community 
involvement in 
DPDs and SPDs  
and in planning 
applications 

Must be in 
conformity 
with 
Regulations 

Commenced 
March 2005 

n/a Issues & Options 
consultation September 
2005; 
Preferred Options 
consultation October 2005 

n/a Submitted 
February 
2006 

Inspector’s 
Report 
received July 
2006 

Adopted 
November 
2006 

Minerals and 
Waste Core 
Strategy 
Development 
Plan 
Document 

To set out the 
Council’s vision, 
objectives, spatial 
strategy and 
policies; and to 
identify strategic 
locations for 
minerals and waste 
development; for a 
period of at least 15 
years 

Must be in 
general 
conformity 
with 
Regional 
Spatial 
Strategy 

Commenced 
March 2005 

March – April 
2009 

Initial Issues & Options 
consultations June 2006 
(Core Strategy) & Feb/April 
2007 (Sites); 
Initial Preferred Options 
consultation (Core 
Strategy) Feb 2007; 
Further engagement & 
consultation Nov 2008 – 
July 2009; 
Revised Preferred Options 
consultation Jan – Feb 
2010 

Publish for 
rep-
resentations 
to be made 
October 2010 

December 
2010 

Pre-hearing 
meeting 
January 2011; 
Hearings 
March – April 
2011; 
Inspector’s 
final Report 
August 2011 

November 
2011 

Stages in italics already completed 
Decisions on the need for other possible documents (Minerals and Waste Detailed Site Allocations DPD or DPDs; Minerals and 
Waste Development Code of Practice SPD; and Restoration and After-use of Minerals and Waste Sites SPD) will be made when 
preparation of the Core Strategy is further advanced. 
Note: This programme has been superseded by the revised timetable agreed by the County Council’s Cabinet on 19 October 2010 
(see paragraph 3.1.6). 
 

P
age 72



CMDGI5 
 

 

Appendix 2 
 
Key Waste Targets 
 
1. National 
 
1.1 The ‘Waste Strategy for England 2007’ (published May 2007) sets out 

the Government’s vision and strategy for managing waste in a more 
sustainable way.  It contains a number of national targets for reducing 
the amount of waste disposed to landfill and increasing the recovery of 
resources from waste.  These are mainly aimed at the municipal waste 
stream, but a target for commercial and industrial waste is also 
included and a target for construction and demolition waste is 
proposed.  The national targets in Waste Strategy 2007 are:   
 

• by 2010 to reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled to 
75% of that produced in 1995; 

• by 2013 to reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled to 
50% of that produced in 1995; 

• by 2020 to reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled to 
35% of that produced in 1995; 

 
• to recover value from 53% of municipal waste by 2010; 
• to recover value from 67% of municipal waste by 2015; 
• to recover value from 75% of municipal waste by 2020; 

 
• to recycle or compost at least 40% of household waste by 2010; 
• to recycle or compost at least 45% of household waste by 2015; 
• to recycle or compost at least 50% of household waste by 2020; 

 
• amount of commercial & industrial waste landfilled expected to 

fall by 20% by 2010 compared to 2004 (target to be set); 
 

• amount of construction, demolition & excavation waste landfilled 
to be halved by 2012 (target under consideration). 

 
2. South East 
 
2.1 The South East Plan (May 2009) includes polices for waste and 

minerals covering the period to 2026 (see paragraph 2.4.3).  These 
include regional targets for diversion of waste from landfill (Policy W5) 
and for recycling and composting (Policy W6), as set out below:  

 

Page 73



CMDGI5 
 

 

South East Region Targets for Diversion from Landfill 
(South East Plan, May 2009, policy W5) 
Year 2008 2010 2015 2020 2025 
Diversion % 68% 71% 79% 84% 86% 
 
South East Region Recycling and Composting Targets 
(South East Plan, May 2009, policy W6) 

Year MSW % C&I % C&D % All Waste % 
2008 36 46 48 45 
2010 40 50 50 50 
2015 50 55 50 55 
2020 55 60 60 60 
2025 60 65 60 65 
 
3. Oxfordshire  
 
3.1 The South East Plan (2009) (Policy W7) also states that waste 

planning authorities should provide for an appropriate mix of 
development opportunities to support the waste management facilities 
required to achieve the targets in the regional strategy.  Policy W7 sets 
annual rates of waste to be managed within each sub-region, which 
provide benchmarks for the preparation of development plan 
documents.  These include the following figures for Oxfordshire, which 
need to be taken into account in the preparation of the Minerals and 
Waste Development Framework: 

 
Average Annual Tonnages to be Managed in Oxfordshire 
(South East Plan, May 2009, policy W7) 
 Average Annual Tonnage to be Managed 

(thousand tonnes) 
Waste Stream 2008-2010 2011-2015 2016-2020 2021-2025 

Municipal 
Solid Waste 

319 347 377 406 

Commercial & 
Industrial 

630 685 745 791 

 
3.2 The Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Strategy ‘No Time to Waste’ 

was approved in September 2006 and sets the following targets: 
• By the 31 March 2010: Recycle or Compost at least 40% of 

household waste  
• By the 31 March 2015: Recycle or Compost at least 45% of 

household waste  
• By the 31 March 2020: Recycle or Compost at least 55% of 

household waste 
 

In addition to these targets the Joint Municipal Waste Strategy includes 
the following target as part of a Local Area Agreement: 

• To reach 38% recycling or composting of household waste by 31 
March 2009. 

Page 74



CMDGI5 
 

 

  
 

Page 75



CMDGI5 
 

 

Appendix 4 
Map of Permitted Waste Management Facilities in Oxfordshire  
To be inserted 
 

Page 76



CMDGI5 
 

 

Glossary  
 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR): Assesses the implementation of the LDS 
and extent to which the policies in Local Development Documents are being 
successfully implemented.   
 
Core Strategy:  Sets out the long-term spatial vision for the local planning 
authority area and the strategic policies and proposals to deliver that vision. 
 
Development Control policies:  A set of criteria-based policies required to 
ensure that all development within the area meets the vision and strategy set 
out in the core strategy. 
 
Development Plan Document:  Spatial planning documents that are subject 
to independent examination. 
 
Local Development Document:  The collective term for the Development 
Plan Documents, Supplementary Planning Documents and the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 
 
Local Development Framework:  Comprises a portfolio of local development 
documents that will provide the framework for delivering the spatial planning 
strategy for the area. 
 
Minerals & Waste Development Plan Document:  Spatial minerals and 
waste related planning documents that are subject to independent 
examination.  
 
Minerals & Waste Development Scheme: Sets out the programme for the 
preparation of the minerals and waste development documents.  
 
Minerals & Waste Development Framework:  Comprises a portfolio of 
minerals and waste development documents which will provide the framework 
for delivering the spatial minerals and waste planning strategy for the area. 
 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan:  Sets out the current policies and the sites 
for minerals-related and waste-related development. 

 
Proposals Map:  The adopted proposals map illustrates on a base map all 
the polices contained in the Development Plan Documents, together with any 
saved policies. 
 
Statement of Community Involvement:  Sets out the standards which 
authorities will achieve in involving local communities in the preparation of 
local development documents and development control decisions.    
 
Supplementary Planning Document:  Provide supplementary information in 
respect of the policies in Development Plan Documents.  They do not form 
part of the Development Plan and are not subject to independent examination.   

Page 77



CMDGI5 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alternative Formats of this publication can be made available on request.  
These include other languages, large print, Braille, audio cassette, compute 

disk or e-mail 
 

Minerals & Waste Policy Team (ESPCC) 
Environment and Economy 
Oxfordshire County Council 

Speedwell House 
Oxford 
OX1 1NE 

 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

Page 78


	Agenda
	4 Household Waste recycling Centres - Operating, Access and Waste Acceptance Policy
	CMDGI_NOV2510R03

	5 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Development Framework: Annual Monitoring Report 2010
	CMDGI_NOV2510R05


